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RUBÉN HINOJOSA, Texas 
CAROLYN MCCARTHY, New York 
JOE BACA, California 
AL GREEN, Texas 
WM. LACY CLAY, Missouri 
BRAD MILLER, North Carolina 
DAVID SCOTT, Georgia 
EMANUEL CLEAVER, Missouri 
MELISSA L. BEAN, Illinois 
LINCOLN DAVIS, Tennessee 
PAUL W. HODES, New Hampshire 
KEITH ELLISON, Minnesota 
RON KLEIN, Florida 
TIM MAHONEY, Florida 
CHARLES A. WILSON, Ohio 
ED PERLMUTTER, Colorado 

PAUL E. GILLMOR, Ohio 
TOM PRICE, Georgia 
RICHARD H. BAKER, Louisiana 
DEBORAH PRYCE, Ohio 
MICHAEL N. CASTLE, Delaware 
PETER T. KING, New York 
EDWARD R. ROYCE, California 
STEVEN C. LATOURETTE, Ohio 
WALTER B. JONES, JR., North Carolina 
JUDY BIGGERT, Illinois 
SHELLEY MOORE CAPITO, West Virginia 
TOM FEENEY, Florida 
JEB HENSARLING, Texas 
SCOTT GARRETT, New Jersey 
GINNY BROWN-WAITE, Florida 
J. GRESHAM BARRETT, South Carolina 
JIM GERLACH, Pennsylvania 
STEVAN PEARCE, New Mexico 
RANDY NEUGEBAUER, Texas 
GEOFF DAVIS, Kentucky 
PATRICK T. MCHENRY, North Carolina 
JOHN CAMPBELL, California 

VerDate 0ct 09 2002 17:20 Jul 27, 2007 Jkt 035410 PO 00000 Frm 00005 Fmt 5904 Sfmt 5904 K:\DOCS\35410.TXT HFIN PsN: TERRIE



VerDate 0ct 09 2002 17:20 Jul 27, 2007 Jkt 035410 PO 00000 Frm 00006 Fmt 5904 Sfmt 5904 K:\DOCS\35410.TXT HFIN PsN: TERRIE



(V)

C O N T E N T S 

Page 
Hearing held on: 

March 27, 2007 ................................................................................................. 1
Appendix: 

March 27, 2007 ................................................................................................. 67

WITNESSES 

TUESDAY, MARCH 27, 2007

Antonakes, Steven L., Commissioner of Banks, Massachusetts Division of 
Banks, on behalf of the Conference of State Banking Supervisors .................. 15

Bair, Hon. Sheila C., Chairwoman, Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ..... 6
Braunstein, Sandra F., Director, Division of Consumer and Community Af-

fairs, Federal Reserve Board ............................................................................... 13
Calhoun, Michael D., President, Center for Responsible Lending ...................... 49
Dinham, Harry H., CMC, President, National Association of Mortgage Bro-

kers ........................................................................................................................ 55
Fishbein, Allen, Director of Housing and Credit Policy, Consumer Federation 

of America ............................................................................................................. 52
Johnson, Hon. JoAnn, Chairman, National Credit Union Administration ......... 10
Pollock, Alex J., resident fellow, American Enterprise Institute ......................... 57
Reich, Hon. John M., Director, Office of Thrift Supervision ................................ 8
Robbins, John M., Chairman, Mortgage Bankers Association ............................. 54
Rushton, Emory W., Senior Deputy Comptroller, Office of the Comptroller 

of the Currency ..................................................................................................... 12
Silver, Josh, Vice President of Research and Policy, National Community 

Reinvestment Coalition ....................................................................................... 51

APPENDIX 

Prepared statements: 
Antonakes, Steven L. ....................................................................................... 244
Bair, Hon. Sheila C. ......................................................................................... 68
Braunstein, Sandra F. ...................................................................................... 217
Calhoun, Michael D. ......................................................................................... 288
Dinham, Harry H. ............................................................................................ 392
Fishbein, Allen .................................................................................................. 346
Johnson, Hon. JoAnn ....................................................................................... 118
Pollock, Alex J. ................................................................................................. 428
Reich, Hon. John M. ......................................................................................... 97
Robbins, John M. .............................................................................................. 360
Rushton, Emory W. .......................................................................................... 183
Silver, Josh ........................................................................................................ 315

ADDITIONAL MATERIAL SUBMITTED FOR THE RECORD 

Statement of the Consumer Mortgage Coalition ........................................... 440
Letter to Chairwoman Maloney and Ranking Member Gillmor from the 

National Association of Federal Credit Unions .......................................... 457
Statement of the National Association of Realtors ........................................ 459
Series of newspaper articles from the Charlotte Observer ........................... 467
Responses from the Comptroller of the Currency to questions submitted 

by Hon. Brad Miller ...................................................................................... 483
Responses from the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation to questions 

submitted by Hon. Tom Price ...................................................................... 490

VerDate 0ct 09 2002 17:20 Jul 27, 2007 Jkt 035410 PO 00000 Frm 00007 Fmt 5904 Sfmt 5904 K:\DOCS\35410.TXT HFIN PsN: TERRIE



Page
VI

Responses from the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System 
to questions submitted by Hon. Tom Price ................................................. 494

Responses from the Center for Responsible Lending to questions sub-
mitted by Hon. Tom Price ............................................................................ 498

Responses from the Comptroller of the Currency to questions submitted 
by Hon. Tom Price ........................................................................................ 507

VerDate 0ct 09 2002 17:20 Jul 27, 2007 Jkt 035410 PO 00000 Frm 00008 Fmt 5904 Sfmt 5904 K:\DOCS\35410.TXT HFIN PsN: TERRIE



(1)

SUBPRIME AND PREDATORY LENDING: 
NEW REGULATORY GUIDANCE, CURRENT 
MARKET CONDITIONS, AND EFFECTS ON 
REGULATED FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 

Tuesday, March 27, 2007

U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, 
SUBCOMMITTEE ON FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 

AND CONSUMER CREDIT 
COMMITTEE ON FINANCIAL SERVICES, 

Washington, D.C. 
The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10 a.m., in room 

2128, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Carolyn B. Maloney 
[chairwoman of the subcommittee] presiding. 

Present: Representatives Maloney, Watt, Sherman, Gutierrez, 
Moore of Kansas, Hinojosa, McCarthy, Baca, Green, Clay, Miller of 
North Carolina, Scott, Cleaver, Bean, Davis of Tennessee, Ellison, 
Klein, Perlmutter; Gillmor, Price, Pryce, Castle, Biggert, Capito, 
Hensarling, Neugebauer, McHenry, and Campbell. 

Also present: Representative Bachus. 
Chairwoman MALONEY. This hearing of the Subcommittee on Fi-

nancial Institutions and Consumer Credit entitled ‘‘Subprime and 
Predatory Lending: New Regulatory Guidance, Current Market 
Conditions, and Effects on Regulated Institutions’’ will come to 
order. Without objection, all members’ opening statements will be 
made part of the record. We have two very distinguished panels in 
front of us today and a very key topic to discuss. Unfortunately, we 
must give up this room promptly at 1:45, so the ranking member 
and I have agreed to limit opening statements to the Chair and 
ranking member of the full committee and of this subcommittee. 
And we are going to do everything we can do in our power to end 
the first panel by 12:30 so that we can hear from the second panel. 

This first hearing of the Financial Institutions and Consumer 
Credit Subcommittee in the 110th Congress addresses a critical 
and escalated issue. We are facing, by all accounts, a tsunami of 
defaults and foreclosures in the primary subprime market. In each 
of our districts, our constituents are encountering payment shock 
as their initial teaser rate ends and their loan is reset to a higher 
rate. This is happening at the same time homeowners are having 
a more difficult time refinancing because their homes are no longer 
increasing in value so they are defaulting and going into fore-
closure and losing their homes. Every analyst says that the third 
quarter of this year and the fourth could be even worse than the 
rates of default and foreclosure that we have seen to date. By some 
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estimates, 2.2 million homeowners with subprime loans made 
through 2006 will lose their homes. As this chart shows, rates of 
default and foreclosure, which were decreasing, are now on a sharp 
increase. We also have a dramatic increase in the number of 
subprime loans being packaged into securities from less than 8 per-
cent of the market in 2001 to 20 percent last year, a more than 
doubling in 5 years. In the last month, a very significant downward 
market correction is taking place in the secondary market. Yester-
day, for example, Morgan Stanley announced it was auctioning off 
almost $2.5 billion worth of subprime mortgages from New Cen-
tury, one of the largest subprime lenders. At least four large 
subprime lenders are already in bankruptcy. The debate has moved 
on to whether the turmoil in the subprime market will infect the 
larger economy. 

Against that backdrop, this hearing takes on as its starting point 
the proposed guidance on subprime lending issued jointly on March 
2nd by the five banking Federal regulators, all of whom are testi-
fying today. This guidance has been endorsed by the Conference of 
State Bank Regulators. The guidance is simple, commonsense: Do 
not make loans people cannot repay. It sets out principles for 
subprime lending, which require lenders to assess a borrowers’ 
ability to pay over the whole life of the loan, that is whether the 
borrower can pay the loan at its fully indexed rate, assuming a 
fully amortized payment schedule. The guidance requires proof of 
income and ability to pay, ending no-doc loans or as they are called 
in the business, ‘‘liar loans.’’ At the same time, it allows for flexi-
bility and underwriting for those who may not have the traditional 
indicators of good credit. This guidance tries to strike a balance; we 
want to maximize the dream of homeownership while minimizing 
foreclosures. 

This is a first in a series of hearings planned for this topic. With 
legislation in mind, I have questions for both panels that go beyond 
the guidance itself to what I consider the larger picture. As this 
chart shows, only about a quarter of the primary market in 
subprime loans is directly regulated by the Federal banking regu-
lators. Another quarter, consisting of mortgage subsidiaries of bank 
holding companies, is indirectly regulated by the Fed. And about 
half, consisting of State regulated banks and finance companies, is 
regulated by a patchwork of State laws. 

Assuming the proposed guidance goes into effect for the federally 
regulated quarter of the market, how can it reach the other three 
quarters? That is the essential question of this hearing. Some sug-
gestions have been made, and I would like the witnesses to com-
ment on them. First, as Federal officials have said, and as Senator 
Dodd has pointed out, the Federal Reserve has broad powers under 
HOEPA, the Home Ownership and Equity Protection Act, to regu-
late unfair and deceptive practices for all lenders. Should the Fed 
use those powers to extend this guidance to the entire market? I 
understand that some of the regulators support such a move. Sec-
ondly, who could enforce that for each of the different sectors? Also, 
what about the suggestion of extending the Fed’s direct regulatory 
powers to the mortgage subsidiaries of bank holding companies so 
that quarter of the market also has to follow the principles of the 
guidance. And next what about the State banking regulators, can 
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they act to promulgate the principles of the guidance nationwide or 
should we have a national subprime standard tracking the guid-
ance and, if so, who should enforce that? 

I am interested in knowing how to extend the guidance to the 
secondary market. Lenders will not make these loans if they cannot 
sell them. I believe that the GSEs as leaders in the secondary mar-
ket should stop buying loans that do not conform to the guidance, 
as Freddie Mac has already done. How do you think we can best 
extend the principles of the guidance, not only to the GSEs but also 
to the other secondary market participants? Finally, what can we 
do to help current borrowers in a responsible manner? The regu-
lators have encouraged lenders to exercise forbearance, but how do 
they plan to implement that policy, and can Congress help support 
that effort? I know that Senator Dodd is calling together many of 
the participants to come forward with a plan. 

These are pressing problems requiring prompt attention. Of 
course, we wish the regulators had acted sooner, but I applaud 
them for having taken this first step, and I look forward to their 
testimony. I now recognize the ranking member, Mr. Gillmor, for 
10 minutes. 

Mr. GILLMOR. I would like to thank the Chair for calling what 
is a very important hearing today and also I am delighted to see 
such a distinguished panel. I look forward to working with the 
Chair and others in Congress on this very important public policy 
concern. 

I think it is prudent that the committee begin its investigation 
into predatory and subprime lending by looking into how we got 
here and what the regulators have done to date. The title points 
it out but I think it is critical that the committee distinguish be-
tween these two types of lending; predatory lending and subprime 
lending are two different animals. Some in Congress and some in 
the press have blurred the line between the issues but they are dis-
tinct problems requiring distinct solutions. In the subprime area, 
there is no doubt that the past several years have seen a general 
loosening of underwriting standards. America has one of the high-
est rates of homeownership in the world. That is good. And we 
ought to continue to encourage homeownership. However, you are 
not doing anyone a favor by putting them in a house with a type 
of mortgage that when interest rates go up, or when they have an 
economic reverse, they are thrown out of their house. 

During then-Chairman Greenspan’s and Chairman Bernanke’s 
appearances before the committee previously, I have made it a 
point to repeatedly voice my concern regarding the proliferation of 
interest-only and other alternative mortgage products, including 
those with negative amortization. After interest rates began rising 
and the housing market began cooling, mortgage originators were 
pressured by the market to match the volume of the height of the 
boom. This was too often accomplished through a loosening of cred-
it standards and clearly consumers were put into homes they could 
not afford just 2 or 3 years down the road. Today, we find ourselves 
on the leading edge of a market correction that has the potential 
to harm many Americans. Some 20 subprime lenders have already 
gone out of business. There will be pressures placed on Congress 
to react swiftly to correct for the problems of subprime loans. And 
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while it is a serious problem, I think it is important that we take 
the time to do it right and not be too hasty and do it wrong. And 
I am pleased to yield to the distinguished ranking member of the 
full committee, Mr. Bachus. 

Mr. BACHUS. I thank you, Mr. Gillmor, and I also thank Chair-
woman Maloney for having this hearing and I look forward to hear-
ing from our panelists. I think when we talk about subprime lend-
ing, the first thing we ought to focus on is the benefits of home-
ownership. I quote President Lyndon Johnson, he said, ‘‘For many 
families homeownership is a source of pride and satisfaction of 
commitment to community life.’’ The benefits of homeownership are 
profound when it comes to not only families but also communities 
and our Nation as a whole. I think that is really why I know regu-
lators, the Administration, this Congress, we have all set as a pri-
ority homeownership for as many Americans who have the ability 
and the desire to own their own home. It improves the educational 
performances of the children whose parents own homes and it re-
duces crime rates—the higher homeownership goes, the lower the 
crime rates go. And over the last probably 30 years or 40 years 
there has been a recognition that all of our families, whether they 
are low income or low middle income, should have the opportunity 
to participate, have the opportunity to own their own home. It is 
kind of interesting that one of the origins of subprime lending actu-
ally was in the Community Reinvestment Act of 1977, as far as the 
statute. The CRA mandates—mandates, not suggests—that banks 
and thrifts meet the credit needs of all communities in which they 
are chartered and from which they take deposits, including low- 
and moderate-income borrowers. And this committee in the past 
has actually had institutions in and questioned them on their com-
mitment and their participation in extending loans, mortgage 
loans, to individuals or families which had less than stellar credit 
ratings or who really did not have good credit ratings, saying that 
should not eliminate them from being able to purchase a home. So 
there has actually been quite a lot of suggestion as well as statu-
tory mandate in that regard. 

As the chairman said, and as the ranking member said, we have 
had a skyrocketing, not only of the number of these loans and the 
percentage of these loans, but we have had so-called innovative 
new loans, the interest-only loan, the adjustable rate loan. And I 
know last September the regulators issued guidance and again 
came back this last month and issued additional guidance. I have 
looked at that guidance, and I would say that guidance, had it been 
followed, would have resulted in a reduction in the number of de-
faults. Last March, I drew up legislation, worked with now-Chair-
man Frank, and he and I agreed on about 80 or 90 percent of a 
subprime lending bill. I wish we passed that bill. We had some 
members who did not want any regulation, and we had other mem-
bers who wanted more regulation than what was in the bill, so 
sadly, we were not able to build a consensus. But it is a shame that 
sometimes we cannot come together and solve our differences. It 
would have benefitted a lot of Americans who at least in the past 
6 or 8 months have taken out loans. 

I will say this about the guidance, and the reason that I last 
March urged this committee to pass a subprime lending bill, some 
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5

people said, ‘‘The regulators are taking care of that.’’ They are not 
taking care of it in that there are—they are taking care of the fed-
erally-regulated institutions but there are a lot of State institu-
tions, there are States like Alabama, my State, unlike Massachu-
setts, we are going to have the commissioner of banks from Massa-
chusetts, you all have taken care of a lot of that problem with a 
strong bill but there are about half of the States out there that 
have no legislation. There are others where it is a hodgepodge of 
legislation and it is interfering with people’s ability to get loans. So 
we still need, because the Federal regulators, they do not include 
regulation of mortgage brokers. And as we found anybody who is 
listening to the news, studied what has been going on, knows that 
we need some legislation addressing mortgage brokers. So I know 
this committee is going to keep up its attempts to at least establish 
some type of national standard. 

I was sort of surprised last night, my bill, the bill that I intro-
duced, and I have a written statement that talks about the dif-
ferent things I did in that bill including look at people’s ability to 
pay, but the one thing about that bill, it was modeled after North 
Carolina because everybody said that North Carolina was the gold 
standard. Last night, ABC News had a documentary on the 
subprime lending market and all the people who had lost money 
and the highlight of the thing they showcased in that documentary 
was a community where like 30 or 40 percent of the people in that 
community have lost their homes. The homebuilder had come in 
there and he had built these homes and a lot of people had come 
and they bought these homes and they were underwater, they were 
losing their homes. Guess where it was? It was in Concord, North 
Carolina, with a strong State regulatory, so I do not know what 
happened there. So it obviously shows that even when you have a 
strong State bill, you have guidance from the Federal Govern-
ment—I do not know, it would be interesting to know how those 
loans occurred and what happened and whether it was just maybe 
outright fraud. 

But I do look forward to your testimony. The first line of defense 
ought to always be the regulators. You are the professionals; we de-
pend on you to address these problems. The only time that I like 
to see this committee legislate is when you need statutory author-
ity or where you—and I will say this about our bank regulators, 
I think they have been on top of this issue and other issues, at 
least they are on top of it now, I will put it that way. But we still 
need in my mind legislation because we have a lot of State—we 
have a lot of institutions and mortgage brokers who are not regu-
lated, that your regulation does not reach. 

So with that, I would yield back the balance of my time. 
Chairwoman MALONEY. The gentleman’s time has expired. I 

yield 2 minutes to Mr. Miller from the great State of North Caro-
lina. 

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Thank you, Madam Chair-
woman. In the great bipartisan tradition of this committee, I find 
myself agreeing with much of what my colleagues on the other side 
of the aisle have said. I agree with Mr. Gillmor that we do need 
to be careful in developing legislation in this committee, that we 
not rush into something because subprime lending is in the head-
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6

lines, but we cannot let the need for careful legislation become an 
excuse for inaction. We should pass legislation this year, this is 
something that has been in the works for a long time. I also agree 
with Mr. Bachus, with whom I had many discussions last year 
about this issue, that we need to continue to support homeowner-
ship by the middle class. Homeownership is the single best way 
that the middle class builds wealth, by buying a home, by faithfully 
paying a mortgage month after month, by building equity in a 
home, the equity they build becomes the bulk of their life savings. 
The savings rate for families now is slightly less than zero. We can-
not take away homeownership as a way for the middle class to 
build wealth. A healthy mortgage market helps middle-class fami-
lies build wealth by owning a home. It also makes it possible for 
them to borrow money against their home when they face one of 
life’s rainy days. But we have had in this country too much lending 
that does not help middle-class families build wealth but steals 
wealth from them, predatory loans that strip their equity with up-
front costs and fees and loans that a middle-class family cannot 
possibly repay, so in 2 or 3 years they have to be back borrowing 
money again, again paying up-front costs and fees, losing more and 
more of their life savings. We have the example of many States 
that have provided effective consumer protections and have struck 
a balance that middle-class families, they need to borrow money to 
buy a home and need to borrow money against their home to deal 
with life’s rainy days. And we should follow and look closely at the 
example of those States and develop a strong national standard 
that protects every American consumer everywhere. Thank you. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Thank you. I would like now to introduce 
the panel. They are all distinguished. They have distinguished re-
sumes. We are going to put all of the resumes in the record in the 
interest of time. I would first like to introduce the Honorable Shei-
la Bair, Chairwoman of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, 
for 5 minutes. 

STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE SHEILA C. BAIR, 
CHAIRWOMAN, FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION 

Ms. BAIR. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman, Ranking Member 
Gillmor, and members of the subcommittee. Thank you for holding 
this hearing on the important subject of subprime lending and 
predatory practices in the subprime mortgage market. Homeowner-
ship contributes to neighborhood stability and is an important way 
that many individuals and families build wealth. 

Traditionally, homeownership has been a low-risk, stable invest-
ment representing the largest asset for the typical family. Govern-
ment policies, ranging from tax incentives to the formation of gov-
ernment-sponsored enterprises, have long encouraged homeowner-
ship in recognition of its important individual and societal benefits. 
Mortgage lending practices that build debt, rather than wealth, 
however, not only harm individual homeowners, but also under-
mine these important social benefits. 

The mortgage markets have changed significantly in recent 
years, especially for subprime mortgages. Intense lender competi-
tion, historically low interest rates, rapid home price appreciation 
and, crucially, investor demand for mortgage paper facilitated the 
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dramatic growth in the subprime market between 2003 and 2005. 
New mortgage products were specifically designed to attract bor-
rowers with low initial rates which would then reset to much high-
er interest rates for the remainder of the loan term. These types 
of loans were simultaneously attractive both to borrowers, who 
could obtain larger loans at lower cost for at least a short time, and 
to investors in mortgage loan pools, who were attracted to the 
above-market yields. Particularly pervasive were so-called 2/28 and 
3/27 hybrid ARMs, which combined a fixed introductory rate for the 
first 2 to 3 years followed by significant upward adjustments. 

There is no doubt that many subprime borrowers have benefitted 
from the expansion of mortgage credit. However, rather than build-
ing wealth, many other borrowers are now struggling to keep their 
homes. Repeat refinancings have taken equity from their homes 
and adjustable rate features have challenged their ability to con-
tinue making payments. In previous years, many of these bor-
rowers could have refinanced their mortgages or sold their homes 
at a profit to repay their debt in full. Now, as home prices have 
stagnated or even declined in many areas of the country, more bor-
rowers find themselves trapped in mortgages they cannot afford to 
pay. 

In 2006, almost three quarters of non-agency securitized 
subprime mortgage originations were adjustable rate mortgages, 
primarily 2/28 and 3/27 hybrid ARMs. Estimates are that at least 
2.1 million subprime hybrid ARMs are outstanding today. This 
means that approximately 1.7 percent of U.S. households have 2/
28 or 3/27 loans. Subprime borrowers are particularly at risk be-
cause they already have very little financial cushion. Subprime bor-
rowers spend nearly 37 percent of their after-tax income on mort-
gage payments and other costs of housing, roughly 20 percentage 
points more than prime borrowers spend. Of ARMs originated in 
2006, a full 24 percent have negative home equity, in other words, 
borrowers owe more than their homes are worth. Financial stress 
on subprime borrowers with adjustable rate mortgages will in-
crease further as rates reset. The FDIC is concerned that the 
subprime borrowers who have taken these loans will face an array 
of serious financial problems. 

In the past year, the FDIC and the other Federal financial insti-
tution regulatory agencies issued guidance regarding the risks of 
non-traditional mortgages to address concerns about interest-only 
and payment-option ARMs, which are offered primarily to prime 
and Alt-A borrowers. Since adjustable rate products in the 
subprime market raise similar and additional concerns, the Federal 
banking agencies also proposed a statement on subprime mortgage 
lending. Both of these documents restate two very fundamental 
lending principles: A loan should be approved based on a bor-
rowers’ ability to repay at the fully indexed rate; and borrowers 
should be provided with early disclosures to fully understand the 
costs and terms of the loan. In addition, in January, the FDIC 
issued a supervisory policy on predatory lending. This policy de-
scribes certain characteristics of predatory loans and reaffirms that 
such practices are inconsistent with safe and sound lending, and 
undermine individual, family, and community well-being. 
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The FDIC aggressively addresses predatory lending through ex-
aminations and supervisory actions. When examiners encounter 
loans with predatory characteristics, the FDIC takes whatever su-
pervisory actions are necessary to effect correction. Our examina-
tion process has led to the issuance of more than a dozen formal 
and informal enforcement actions that are currently outstanding 
against FDIC-supervised institutions that failed to meet prudent 
mortgage lending standards. 

Widespread credit distress in the subprime mortgage market, 
with especially pronounced problems among independent mortgage 
lenders, suggests the need for a comprehensive response that 
assures that all lenders are subject to certain baseline require-
ments. Guidelines and other supervisory standards promulgated by 
Federal bank regulators apply to only a portion of the market. 
Moreover, the lack of uniform standards creates negative competi-
tive pressures on insured institutions. A national anti-predatory 
lending standard would help assure basic uniform protections for 
all borrowers as well as create a more level competitive playing 
field for regulated entities. 

There are two possible approaches to creating and implementing 
an anti-predatory lending standard that would apply across the 
mortgage lending industry. First, Congress could pass a law that 
establishes a set of anti-predatory lending standards. A statutory 
approach to establishing such standards could draw from our cur-
rent and proposed Federal regulatory guidelines, as well as existing 
State anti-predatory lending statutes. It should raise the bar by 
strengthening protections available to borrowers. At its core, it 
should address at least two important areas; one, the ability of the 
borrower to repay the loan; and, two, misleading marketing and 
disclosures that prevent borrowers from fully understanding the 
costs and terms of loan products. Alternatively, or in conjunction 
with the statutory process, the Federal Reserve Board could exer-
cise rulemaking authorities it has under the Home Ownership and 
Equity Protection Act to address abusive practices by all mortgage 
lenders for all loans, not just those that are high cost. We under-
stand that the Federal Reserve is in the midst of reviewing the reg-
ulations that implement this Act. The FDIC would strongly support 
them should they decide to make greater use of authorities pro-
vided by this law. 

Many abuses might be more effectively addressed by regulation 
rather than statute, especially in areas— 

Chairwoman MALONEY. The gentlelady’s time has expired. 
Ms. BAIR. Okay, sorry. 
[The prepared statement of Chairman Bair can be found on page 

68 of the appendix.] 
Chairwoman MALONEY. The Honorable John Reich, Director of 

the Office of Thrift Supervision. 

STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE JOHN M. REICH, DIRECTOR, 
OFFICE OF THRIFT SUPERVISION 

Mr. REICH. Good morning, Madam Chairwoman, Ranking Mem-
ber Gillmor, and members of the committee, I am delighted to be 
here today to have the opportunity to present to you the views of 
the Office of Thrift Supervision relating to subprime and predatory 
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lending. I have been involved in the banking business for the past 
46 years. During this time, I have witnessed six economic cycles 
characterized by recession, recovery, growth, and decline. During 
one turbulent period back in the 1981/1982 time period, the prime 
rate hit 21 percent, perhaps one of the most alarming periods of 
my own career in the banking business. These experiences have 
left me with two steadfast beliefs about banking and bank super-
vision: one, that you cannot have too much money in your loan loss 
reserves; and two, you cannot have too much money in your capital 
account. A further precept that I hold is that you also have to pro-
tect your customers for without them you have nothing. 

Each of these principles is relevant in the context of today’s dis-
cussion. Based on these three guideposts, I believe that I can report 
to you that the vast majority of the institutions that we regulate 
are conducting their banking activities in a safe and sound man-
ner, consistent with consumer production laws and regulations. 
However, we are in the midst of a transition in the economic cycle 
that has troubling activity, particularly from a consumer’s stand-
point. The result is a difficult correction in response to certain un-
checked lending practices. 

As Members of Congress, I would expect that you have three 
major concerns: your constituency; the financial industry that you 
oversee; and where do we go from here. In my written statement, 
I detail our oversight of subprime mortgage products and OTS’ ef-
forts to combat predatory lending and promote consumer education 
and financial literacy. I want to speak to the nature of the problem 
we are facing, the causes of the problem, and some thoughts on 
how it might be fixed. 

First, two issues obviously have been identified, subprime lend-
ing and predatory lending, but these are not synonymous. Cer-
tainly not all subprime lending is predatory and not all predatory 
lending is to the subprime market. Appropriately underwritten 
loans to subprime borrowers are in fact important and legitimate 
elements of our financial economy. Timely and appropriate regu-
latory responses can address issues of predatory lending in our reg-
ulated financial entities without restricting credit to worthy bor-
rowers. A significant OTS concern, that I believe is shared by all 
agencies, is striking the right balance. We want to promote respon-
sible lending by the institutions that we regulate. We do not want 
to divert subprime borrowers to less regulated or unregulated lend-
ers. We need to ensure sound underwriting of subprime loan prod-
ucts, which will help to weed out predatory lending. 

Next, the problem of where our subprime lending activities are 
concentrated; it is not primarily in the thrift industry. Current 
total national mortgage debt is approximately $10 trillion. 
Subprime mortgages account for about 13 percent or $1.3 trillion 
of this amount of the national mortgage debt; 2006 data show that 
19 of our 845 thrifts, about 2.2 percent of the total number of 
thrifts that we supervise, have significant subprime lending oper-
ations defined as at least 25 percent of capital. These institutions 
hold $35 billion in subprime mortgages equal to about 5 percent of 
total thrift mortgage holdings. Nationwide, there are about 125 
subprime lenders out of the total universe of charters of about 
8,700, so about 1.4 percent of all institutions nationwide have sig-
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nificant subprime programs—loans are originated through mort-
gage bankers. While there is not consistent data on the number of 
licensed mortgage brokers in the United States, there are many 
more individuals working as loan originators and brokers without 
any type of license or registration. In addition, testing and edu-
cation requirements are suspect and background checks may be— 

Chairwoman MALONEY. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
[The prepared statement of Director Reich can be found on page 

97 of the appendix.] 
Chairwoman MALONEY. Next, the Honorable JoAnn Johnson, 

Chairwoman of the National Credit Union Administration. 

STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE JOANN JOHNSON, 
CHAIRMAN, NATIONAL CREDIT UNION ADMINISTRATION 

Ms. JOHNSON. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman, and members of 
the subcommittee. I am Chairman of the National Credit Union 
Administration, an independent Federal agency that regulates or 
insures over 8,400 credit unions with 87 million members. Home 
mortgage lending has long been a part of the way credit unions 
serve their members. Approximately 68 percent of all federally-in-
sured credit unions offer mortgage loans. Those that do not tend 
to be small institutions that cannot afford the required expertise or 
infrastructure. Additionally, the statutory 10 percent loan to one 
borrower limitation makes it more difficult for a small credit union 
to grant large mortgage loans. Credit unions represent 9 percent of 
all mortgage loans outstanding in federally-insured depository in-
stitutions. When considering all mortgage lending, including that 
by non-federally-insured lenders, credit unions originated 2 per-
cent; 61 percent of these credit union mortgage loans are fixed rate, 
while 39 percent are adjustable. 

Because mortgage lending has evolved to now include hybrid or 
exotic mortgage products, NCUA has modified the way in which we 
collect information about mortgage lending on our 5300 Report, 
which is the agency’s quarterly reporting tool. This change will en-
able NCUA to gain more precise information about credit union 
mortgage lending and will enhance our oversight capability. 

The House Financial Services Committee has properly voiced 
concern about the underwriting standards and quality of consumer 
disclosures regarding hybrid loans, including 2/28 and 3/27. NCUA 
shares the committee’s concerns about riskier hybrids that may be 
detrimental to consumers, particularly borrowers in the subprime 
market. Fortunately, these hybrid loans are not prevalent in credit 
union portfolios, partially because of the statutory provisions that 
prohibit prepayment penalties and establish a limit on interest 
rates. 

Demand for mortgages by credit union members remains high. 
Mortgage loans led all types of loan growth in 2006 and comprise 
almost half of all credit union loans. Given NCUA’s emphasis on 
safety and soundness, we continue to closely monitor performance 
indicators in the mortgage lending area. One indicator of a loan’s 
quality, delinquency rates, are relatively low. Delinquencies greater 
than 30 days are at .99 percent and 60 days stands at .34 percent. 
Charge-ops, which occur when a borrower cannot pay, are at .03 
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percent. While these indicators are good, NCUA is committed to a 
high degree of vigilance in this area. 

NCUA has also issued guidance to credit unions on the topic of 
subprime lending. Beginning in 1995, NCUA recognized the emer-
gency of risk-based lending and outlined the advantages and dis-
advantages of such lending to borrowers with subprime credit. In 
1999 and again in 2004, NCUA reiterated the value of family-man-
aged risk-based lending programs as a way to reach out to all 
members, including those in the subprime area. At the same time, 
we reminded credit unions of the importance of stringent under-
writing and monitoring processes. Recognizing potential problems 
in 2005, NCUA specifically addressed emerging risks in exotic 
mortgage lending by issuing a supervisory alert to all examiners 
and henceforth to all credit unions. This served notice that NCUA 
examiners would be monitoring trends in areas of high value ap-
preciation and evaluating both interest rate risks and credit risks 
associated with these newer mortgage products. 

In concert with my fellow Federal regulators, non-traditional 
mortgage guidance was issued in 2006 and work is now underway 
on proposed subprime lending guidance. As this new guidance is 
developed, NCUA is committed to making certain that disclosures 
are improved and consumer protection strengthened, particularly 
in helping avoid payment shocks and negative amortizations. Those 
consumer protections are a vital part of our discussion today. Cred-
it unions must comply with the same Federal regulations governing 
mortgage lending as do other federally insured institutions, includ-
ing Truth in Lending, RESPA, OPA, the Federal Disaster Pre-
paredness Act, the Fair Housing Act, and OMDA. 

Additionally, NCUA and the credit union industry have devoted 
significant resources to assist members in disadvantaged commu-
nities. This commitment has manifested itself primarily through 
affordably priced loans and financial education. Regarding financial 
education, I would strongly suggest that while it is not a panacea, 
financially literate consumers can be better consumers when it 
comes to avoiding the pitfalls presented by this rapidly changing 
market. NCUA administers the— 

Chairwoman MALONEY. The gentlelady has 30 seconds remain-
ing. 

Ms. JOHNSON.—revolving loan fund, which makes grants to low-
income credit unions to assist with financial literacy and wealth 
building. 

NCUA has closely monitored recent dislocation in the subprime 
market. NCUA is concerned that predatory lending in other areas 
of the marketplace may increase the debt burden on credit union 
members and negatively affect credit union asset quality. Even 
though it represents a relatively small piece of the overall pie, the 
mortgage lending that credit unions do is safe and sound. 

Thank you very much. 
[The prepared statement of Chairman Johnson can be found on 

page 118 of the appendix.] 
Chairwoman MALONEY. Thank you. Our next panelist, Mr. 

Emory Rushton, is the Senior Deputy Comptroller from the Office 
of the Comptroller of the Currency. 
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STATEMENT OF EMORY W. RUSHTON, SENIOR DEPUTY COMP-
TROLLER, OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CUR-
RENCY 
Mr. RUSHTON. Thank you, Chairwoman Maloney, Ranking Mem-

ber Gillmor, and members of the subcommittee. I appreciate this 
opportunity to talk with you about mortgage lending in national 
banks and our supervision of it, especially subprime lending that 
is so much in the news today. I bring the perspective of 42 years 
as a national bank examiner—through good times and bad. During 
that time, I have had the opportunity to examine banks throughout 
the country, and I have spent the last decade here in Washington 
working on bank supervision policy. 

We at the OCC are very concerned about the problems in the 
subprime market. Yet, it is easy to forget in this environment that 
these loans have enabled millions of Americans, including many 
low- and moderate-income people, to become homeowners for the 
first time. Most of these folks are paying their loans on time, and 
we expect they will continue to do so. Morever, as Ranking Member 
Gillmor has observed, subprime loans are not inherently predatory 
or abusive. Those that are have no place in the banking system. 
When unfair treatment does occur, we in the government have a 
distinct responsibility to help make it right, and we take that re-
sponsibility very seriously. However, OCC bank supervision is 
aimed primarily at preventing abuse before it occurs, before dam-
age is done. 

OCC became concerned in 2002 about the growth of exotic mort-
gages that carried the potential for a big payment shock, and we 
responded in an escalating fashion, privately and publicly. By 2005, 
we were instructing our examiners to more aggressively address 
the risk of these products during their examinations of national 
banks because we concluded that standards had slipped far 
enough. This was at a time, I might add, when home prices were 
still going up. That intervention is one reason that you will find so 
few payment-option negatively amortizing loans in national banks 
today. Shortly after that, we initiated the interagency process that 
resulted in the non-traditional mortgage guidance that was issued 
last fall. 

Our attention today, though, is focused on the subprime sector 
and especially on hybrid ARMs, which now make up the bulk of the 
subprime business. By their very nature, subprime borrowers who 
take out these loans are especially vulnerable to payment shock. 
We have addressed this and other key features of these loans in 
the guidance that is now out for comment. 

The subcommittee’s invitation letter specifically asked what we 
expect the results of that guidance to be, both good and bad. To be 
sure, there needs to be a return to more realistic underwriting 
standards, and the guidance should have that positive effect. It 
makes no sense to make loans that cannot be repaid. But we can-
not ignore the likelihood that tighter underwriting will mean fewer 
and smaller loans. 

I want to emphasize, Madam Chairwoman, that national banks 
are not the dominant players in the subprime market. Last year, 
they produced less than 10 percent of all new subprime mortgages, 
and their delinquency rates on these loans are about half the in-
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dustry average. We know of some institutions that have actually 
abandoned their plans for a national bank charter rather than sub-
ject their subprime lending to supervision by the OCC. But of 
course these numbers do not matter much to somebody who is fac-
ing losing their home through foreclosure. OCC strongly encour-
ages all national banks to work with troubled borrowers to help 
them resolve their problems. 

It is an unfortunate fact, though, that regulatory oversight tends 
to be less rigorous in precisely those parts of the financial system 
where practices are most problematic. We hope the guidance that 
we have proposed will inspire comparable measures by other regu-
lators, as in fact did happen with the nontraditional guidance we 
issued last fall. 

Madam Chairwoman, our capital and credit markets have en-
abled record levels of homeownership. We play an important role 
in overseeing those markets and in taking action when necessary 
to preserve equilibrium and balance. But our authority does not ex-
tend to important components of that market, including many 
originators, aggregators, securitizers, and funding sources. 

In conclusion, let me assure you that my colleagues and I intend 
to preserve bank safety and soundness and fair treatment of cus-
tomers, and we try to do this through supervision that stems abuse 
without thwarting healthy innovation. Consumers deserve no less. 
We look forward to working with the subcommittee on these issues. 

[The prepared statement of Comptroller Rushton can be found on 
page 183 of the appendix.] 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Ms. Sandra Braunstein, Director of the 
Division of Consumer and Community Affairs of the Federal Re-
serve Bank. 

STATEMENT OF SANDRA F. BRAUNSTEIN, DIRECTOR, DIVI-
SION OF CONSUMER AND COMMUNITY AFFAIRS, FEDERAL 
RESERVE BOARD 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. Thank you. Chairwoman Maloney, Ranking 
Member Gillmor, and members of the subcommittee, I appreciate 
the opportunity to discuss how current subprime practices and 
products effect homeownership and foreclosure. Subprime lending 
has grown rapidly in recent years. In 1994, less than 5 percent of 
mortgage originations were subprime, but by 2005, about 20 per-
cent of new mortgage loans were subprime, many of which were 
adjustable rate mortgages. Many of these loans have increased 
homeownership rates. However, the largest recent increase in de-
linquency and foreclosure rates are for subprime borrowers with 
ARMs, especially those loans with risk-layering features, such as 
combining items like low documentation loans with simultaneous 
seconds. There are indications that the market is addressing these 
issues for new borrowers by tightening underwriting standards. 
However, we remain very concerned that over the next 1 to 2 years 
existing subprime borrowers, especially those with more recently 
originated ARMs, and those with layered risks, may face more dif-
ficulty. As interest rates reset for these loans, some consumers may 
have difficulty with the larger monthly payments. Therefore in-
creases in foreclosure and delinquency rates are likely to continue. 
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The Board has taken several actions to address concerns in the 
subprime market. It is important to remember that overly broad 
actions run the risk of constricting the market and returning to a 
situation where some borrowers have very limited access to credit. 
We want to encourage, not limit, mortgage lending by responsible 
lenders. 

I would like to note several of our activities in this regard. First, 
the Federal Reserve conducts regular examinations of its institu-
tions for safety and soundness and for compliance with consumer 
protection laws. When we find problems in these institutions, we 
require corrective action by bank management and, if necessary, 
we use enforcement tools to address the problems. 

Second, in response to witnesses in underwriting and risk man-
agement at the institutions we supervise, we have issued guidance 
in concert with the other Federal banking agencies. This includes 
the recent proposed guidance on subprime mortgages. This guid-
ance applies to depository financial institutions and the subsidi-
aries of banks and bank holding companies. The guidance discusses 
prudent underwriting practices, including the capacity of the bor-
rower to repay the loan at the fully indexed rate. The guidance also 
reminds institutions to clearly communicate the risks and features 
of these products to consumers in a timely manner even before and 
when application is taken. 

Third, in 2001, the Board revised the HOEPA rules in response 
to renewed concerns about predatory lending. In this rulemaking, 
the Board utilized its authority to prohibit unfair or deceptive prac-
tices. Specifically, the Board issued rules that prohibit a HOEPA 
lender from refinancing one of its own loans with another HOEPA 
loan or flipping within the first year. We also adopted a prohibition 
on demand notes for high cost closed-in mortgages. These revisions 
to HOEPA are cases where the Board determined that they could 
write bright line rules prohibiting unfair practices. However, be-
cause determination of unfairness or deception depends heavily on 
the facts of an individual case, it is very difficult to craft rules 
without unintended consequences. The Board has undertaken a 
major review of Regulation Z which implements the Truth in Lend-
ing Act of which HOEPA is a part. During this review, the Board 
will determine if there are opportunities to further utilize our 
HOEPA authority. 

Fourth, the Community Affairs offices in the Federal Reserve 
Banks have responded to mortgage delinquency and foreclose in 
ways that are directly responsive to the consumer needs in specific 
markets. Various initiatives conducted in concert with local com-
munity partners have identified responsive strategies and helped 
troubled borrowers. A list of these and other Federal Reserve ini-
tiatives are included with my written testimony. We will continue 
to pursue opportunities to help borrowers and preserve access to 
responsible lending. 

[The prepared statement of Ms. Braunstein can be found on page 
217 of the appendix.] 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Thank you. Mr. Steven Antonakes, com-
missioner of the Massachusetts Division of Banks, on behalf of the 
Conference of State Banking Supervisors. Thank you for being 
here. 
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STATEMENT OF STEVEN L. ANTONAKES, COMMISSIONER OF 
BANKS, MASSACHUSETTS DIVISION OF BANKS, ON BEHALF 
OF THE CONFERENCE OF STATE BANKING SUPERVISORS 
Mr. ANTONAKES. Thank you. Good morning, Madam Chair-

woman, Ranking Member Gillmor, and distinguished members of 
the subcommittee and staff. My name is Steven Antonakes, and I 
serve as the commissioner of banks for the Commonwealth of Mas-
sachusetts. I am also the chairman of the State Liaison Committee, 
making me the newest voting member of the FDIC. It is my pleas-
ure to testify today on behalf of the Conference of State Bank Su-
pervisors. 

The current state of our mortgage market, and the subprime 
market in particular, have been well covered in the media. What 
has received less coverage, and is not as well understood, is the 
interplay between State and Federal mortgage supervision. In ad-
dition to regulating banks, 49 States plus the District of Columbia 
currently provide regulatory oversight of the residential mortgage 
industry. In recent years, the States have been working diligently 
to improve supervision in this area. 

In addition to the extensive regulatory and legislative efforts, 
State attorneys general and State regulators have cooperatively 
pursued unfair and deceptive practices in the mortgage market. 
Through three nationwide settlements alone, State regulators have 
returned over $800 million to homeowners. But successes are some-
times better measured by actions that never receive media atten-
tion. States routinely examine mortgage companies for compliance 
not only with State law but for compliance with Federal laws as 
well. These examinations are an integral part of a balanced regu-
latory system. Again, in 2006 alone, States took 3,694 enforcement 
actions against mortgage brokers and mortgage lenders. 

In an effort to further improve State supervision of the mortgage 
industry, significant time and resources have been dedicated to the 
development of a national mortgage licensing system. Recognizing 
gaps in mortgage supervision, the States are creating this licensing 
system to improve the efficiency and the effectiveness of the U.S. 
mortgage market and to fight mortgage fraud and predatory lend-
ing. Scheduled to go live on January 1, 2008, this system will cre-
ate a single record for every State-licensed mortgage company, 
branch, and individual. 

Despite all the actions taken by the States on an individual 
basis, and on a coordinated nationwide basis, we are frustrated in 
our attempts to protect consumers by the preemption of State con-
sumer protection laws. State legislatures have the right to expect 
the laws they pass to be followed by companies operating in their 
States. Thirty-seven States have acted by passing predatory lend-
ing laws only to have them voided by the OCC and OTS rulings. 

In regards to regulatory policy, recent developments have been 
more positive and more productive. Both the State and Federal 
guidance on non-traditional mortgage products provide sound un-
derwriting standards and consumer protection provisions. As of 
today, 29 States plus the District of Columbia have adopted the 
parallel guidelines developed by CSBS and the American Associa-
tion of Residential Mortgage Regulators or ARMOR. Ultimately, 
CSBS expects all 50 States to adopt the guidance. Moreover, CSBS 
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and ARMOR strongly support the recently proposed interagency 
statement on subprime mortgage lending. Personally, I would like 
to thank FDIC Chairman Bair for her leadership on the develop-
ment of this statement and for ensuring an appropriate role for 
State supervisors. CSBS and ARMOR are already working to de-
velop a parallel statement for State regulators to use with their su-
pervised entities. 

In my written testimony, I have outlined several recommenda-
tions for your reference as Congress seeks to improve the residen-
tial mortgage market. In addition to Congress’ focus, the current 
challenges for the mortgage industry have drawn State attention 
as well. As I speak, the Massachusetts legislature is holding a 
hearing discussing the licensing of mortgage loan originators and 
the extension of the Massachusetts State Community Investment 
Act law to non-bank mortgage lenders. We recognize that there are 
regulatory weaknesses in our current system of both State and 
Federal supervision. It is important that we debate and discuss 
these weaknesses. However, we need to move towards finding com-
mon solutions. Ultimately, successful regulation of the mortgage in-
dustry requires enhanced coordination among the States and both 
State and Federal regulators. Improved coordination and commu-
nication will increase accountability among mortgage brokers and 
lenders and provide consistency across the industry to the benefit 
of the borrower. For example, CSBS would like to work with our 
Federal counterparts to encourage our supervised entities to reach 
out to those consumers whose adjustable rate mortgages are sched-
uled to reset this year. 

Thank you again for your invitation to testify today and for the 
subcommittee’s interest in improving our mortgage market system. 
I look forward to your questions. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Antonakes can be found on page 
244 of the appendix.] 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Okay, without objection, the written 
statements of all of the witnesses will be made part of the record, 
and I thank all of you for your testimony and insights. 

Chairman Bernanke and Roger Cull have agreed that the Fed-
eral Reserve has broad powers under HOEPA to regulate unfair 
and deceptive practices for all lenders. I would like to ask all of the 
panelists, should the Fed use those rulemaking powers to extend 
this guidance to the entire market? I know that Chairwoman Bair 
testified in support of such of an action, but I would like to hear 
from each of you for your particular view on this question. Would 
you like to start, Chairman Bair? 

Ms. BAIR. Yes, we would defer to the Fed and the decision they 
make, and I understand they have it under review, but we would 
strongly support them if they did decide to use those authorities. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Okay. Director Reich? 
Mr. REICH. I, too, would be supportive of the Fed taking a look 

at HOEPA to determine if it can be expanded in a way that would 
not result in a credit crunch to worthy borrowers. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Chairwoman Johnson? 
Ms. JOHNSON. Uniformities would certainly have its advantages 

and so it would certainly be something we would support. It is not 
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really my area; we regulate in the credit union area, but seemingly 
the uniformity would be beneficial. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Mr. Rushton? 
Mr. RUSHTON. The OCC would certainly support and contribute 

to the effort by the Fed if they choose to go in that direction. I 
think, as with the guidance that we have issued in this area, the 
tricky part is the writing of rules that weed out the predatory and 
abusive loans without restricting legitimate credit to creditworthy 
borrowers. But we would support their efforts. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Okay, Ms. Braunstein? 
Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. Yes, as I said in my testimony, we do plan to 

look at our authority under that statute and to look for opportuni-
ties to utilize that authority which would cover all lenders. How-
ever, as some of the other panelists have alluded to, there are some 
issues, and it is not an easy process. We need to make sure that 
whatever rules are written are well-calibrated and are very 
thoughtful and are done in such a way to, as Mr. Rushton just said, 
to take care of the bad acts but not overly constrict the markets 
because we do not want to end up with a situation where people 
cannot get responsible loans. 

There are some dangers under HOEPA, and we are going to look 
at that. I am not saying they would stop us, but there are some 
things to keep in mind. One is that HOEPA does carry with it the 
way for people to file private lawsuits so that dictates even more 
that we have to be careful about what we write because it is not 
a matter of the banks being sued that concerns us as much as if 
there is a threat of lawsuits taking place. And HOEPA also carries 
with it assignee liability, which means anybody who touches a loan 
could potentially be sued, that could end up cutting off constraining 
credit because what you may find if there is not a clear, bright line 
drawn in any rule that is written, the lenders may get nervous and 
decide it is not worth doing that kind of credit at all and that 
would be true of secondary market participants, securities, all 
along the line because of the assignee liability. 

So we are going to be looking, as I say, at this authority. We 
think that it is definitely worth looking at, and we will try to figure 
out a way to deal with this but it is not an easy undertaking. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. But don’t you think the guidance strikes 
the right balance now? 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. I think for guidance, the benefits of doing guid-
ance is that it is not enforceable, people cannot sue on the basis 
of guidance, and guidance is a tool that can be done very flexibly. 
And the guidance we try to write is principles based so that it 
would apply to more—because the other problem is the industry is 
very innovative and creative, as we have seen over the years, and 
they are constantly coming up with new and evolving products. If 
we craft things that are too narrow in scope and apply only to spe-
cific products, then the industry comes up with something else, so 
it is a matter of trying to craft something that is broad enough to 
take care of the bad actions but not overly constrict credit. We will 
certainly be looking at what is in the guidance to see if some of 
that can be moved into rules, but I think that is going to take some 
analysis and study on our part and a lot of conversations with in-
dustry and the consumer side and the other regulators. 

VerDate 0ct 09 2002 17:20 Jul 27, 2007 Jkt 035410 PO 00000 Frm 00025 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 K:\DOCS\35410.TXT HFIN PsN: TERRIE



18

Chairwoman MALONEY. But don’t you think that loans barred by 
the guidance should not be made, simply put it merely says people 
who cannot afford the loan should not take out the loan, don’t you 
think that those— 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. Well, I think a basic tenet of lending is that 
borrowers should have the capacity to repay. The problem with 
crafting that into rule, that could end up banning all asset-based 
lending. There are some cases where asset-based lending may not 
be a bad thing for certain income levels. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. But then the guidance takes in miti-
gating factors. 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. Yes, that is true and these are the kinds of 
things we will be looking at. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. When do you expect to come forward 
with your decision? What is the timetable? 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. We have started our review of Truth in Lend-
ing. We have held hearings; this summer we held hearings all 
around the country to gather information on this. We are going 
through that information. We are doing a number of other things. 
I do not have an exact timetable to give you. We are proceeding 
and we are being thoughtful about it, and I cannot give you an 
exact end time. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. And the guidance requires ability to 
repay at the fully indexed rate, is that not a good principle for the 
entire market? 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. Basically, I think that is true, but again we are 
going to have to look at and study these underwriting practices to 
make sure that—if we codify that in a regulation, it is different 
than putting in guidance, we just want to make sure that we do 
not end up constraining responsible credit. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Commissioner Antonakes, and then my 
time is up. 

Mr. ANTONAKES. Certainly, I would personally welcome such an 
approach, and we would hope that we could work closely with the 
Fed to best coordinate supervisory as well as enforcement efforts. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Thank you, and I now recognize the 
ranking member, Mr. Gillmor from Ohio. 

Mr. GILLMOR. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. You have all 
been in the industry for a long time, and you have seen the up’s 
and down’s in the economy. Right now we have, by every objective 
standard, a very good economy. We have had continual expansion, 
and unemployment is low, but these are good times. I want you to 
give me a little projection of what you think will happen if we do 
not have good times? For example, leading indicators declined in 
March, that is the third consecutive month leading indicators have 
gone down, and that is the first time that has happened since the 
recession of 2001. And you also have a lot of adjustable rate mort-
gages that are going to be resetting later this year, or resetting 
next year, so my question is, considering the great increase in fore-
closures and delinquencies we already have, what is your assess-
ment of what happens if we do go into a recession? If I could just 
get a quick response from each of you. Chairman Bair? 

Ms. BAIR. Well, our economists have done a lot, there is a strong 
correlation between delinquencies and defaults in these subprime 
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hybrid ARMs and what is going on with home price appreciation 
or depreciation, as the case may be. Certainly you have seen some 
problems in Ohio, so they are definitely connected. At this point, 
we think the problems in subprime are contained to subprime. We 
do not see a lot of spillover, unless something unexpected happens. 
Obviously, we are monitoring it closely, but we do not see any 
broader implications at this point. 

Mr. REICH. I am going to agree with Chairman Bair. I think that 
so far the problems have been limited to the subprime market. I 
was looking at statistics on past dues on various types, the prime 
past dues continue to be very, very low but not in the subprime 
market and the big question is, will there be a contagion or spill-
over effect if the economic situation in general deteriorates, if there 
are losses of jobs throughout the economy? But at the moment, we 
are not expecting a contagion effect to spill over into other areas 
of the economy. 

Mr. GILLMOR. Chairman Johnson? 
Ms. JOHNSON. We believe that our proactive examination process 

and our guidance that was issued early has helped prevent a large 
number of these types of loans in the first place. Our delinquency 
rate is very, very low and our foreclosure rate currently is less than 
one-tenth of a percent so that could be a slight increase potentially, 
but we think it is very, very small. 

Mr. RUSHTON. The OCC agrees entirely with our colleagues. 
Mr. GILLMOR. So we are okay, all right. 
Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. Yes, Congressman, I could attempt to answer 

that question, but I am not an economist, and there are a couple 
of hundred economists back at my organization who would prob-
ably take my head off if I attempted to answer that, so I think I 
will pass on that. I do know that we are closely monitoring the sit-
uation and that there is still some uncertainty about the wider ef-
fects of this, but I am not the person to address that. 

Mr. GILLMOR. Ms. Braunstein, let me remind you what Harry 
Truman said. Maybe you will give more direct answers to me than 
the economists. He said that he always wanted to have a one-
armed economist because they all said, ‘‘On the other hand.’’ 

[Laughter] 
Mr. ANTONAKES. Congressman, I would only add that our con-

cerns have focused on the fact that I believe what you alluded to, 
that the recent foreclosures have not been tied as closely to the tra-
ditional reasons for foreclosure, job loss, death, or illness of a 
spouse. And certainly it appears to be more driven from the current 
rate market as well as a decline in housing values. And if you had 
additional factors challenging homeowners, then I think the situa-
tion within the subprime market could get worse. So I think that 
speaks of our need to be aggressively addressing these issues now. 

Mr. GILLMOR. Thank you very much, Madam Chairman. My time 
has expired. I thank the panel. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. The Chair yields 1 minute to Mr. 
Hinojosa for a unanimous consent request. 

Mr. HINOJOSA. Thank you, Chairwoman Maloney. I ask unani-
mous consent that a predatory lending financial literacy brochure 
produced by the Center for Responsible Lending and the National 
Association of Realtors, which I hold in my hands, be entered into 
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today’s hearing record as well as a statement by the National Asso-
ciation of Realtors on the same subject, which would be very help-
ful to our hearing today. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. I thank the gentleman, and I now yield 
to Mr. Mel Watt from North Carolina, who has been a leader on 
this issue. 

Mr. WATT. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman, and I thank the 
Chair for convening this hearing, which I think is probably the first 
step toward—this term of Congress—toward the possibility of a 
predatory lending bill and it is that interplay that I want to explore 
a little bit because you have issued some guidance. I assume that 
guidance applies to—who does the guidance apply to? Does it apply 
to everybody? Does it apply to just the people under the jurisdiction 
of— 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. It applies to the depository institutions that we 
all supervise plus their subsidiaries and that includes the subsidi-
aries of bank holding companies. 

Mr. WATT. All right, how do we get it applied to State regulated 
institutions? 

Mr. ANTONAKES. At this point, Congressman, 29 States and the 
District of Columbia have also adopted the guidance as well. My 
office, we actually adopted it as regulation. 

Mr. WATT. If you have adopted—so this guidance now applies to 
everybody, traditional lenders and subprime lenders, right? 

Mr. ANTONAKES. We have other States that— 
Mr. WATT. Either it does or it does not. 
Mr. ANTONAKES. In my State, in Massachusetts, it applies to 

every type of lender. We are working with other States to ensure 
that they adopt the guidance, as well. And we expect that in the 
short term all 50 States will adopt the guidance so it does apply 
to everyone. 

Mr. WATT. Okay, and from this step, the guidance, you are mov-
ing, Ms. Braunstein, towards some regulations, is that where you 
are headed or what are these hearings and things that you are—
what is it that you are contemplating doing in the future? 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. Yes, it is not really related to the guidance per 
se, but we were undergoing—before the guidance issue came up, we 
were looking at our rules under the Truth in Lending Act. 

Mr. WATT. And where is that headed? 
Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. We are revising that. 
Mr. WATT. That is what I am trying to find out. 
Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. It is heading for a major revision of those rules 

in regards to closed-end credit, which would include mortgages. 
That includes looking at mortgage disclosures and making sure 
that consumers have the information they need for transactions as 
well as, as I mentioned today, we will be looking at our authority 
under the HOEPA portion of Truth in Lending and whether or not 
there are practices that are unfair and deceptive that we can write 
rules on. 

Mr. WATT. Okay, and those rules would be beyond this guidance 
that you are talking about or would it be guidance—would it be 
regulations or guidance? 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. No, those would be regulations. 
Mr. WATT. Okay. 
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Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. And HOEPA and the Truth in Lending Act 
apply to all lenders regardless of whether they are depository insti-
tutions or not. 

Mr. WATT. The question I am trying to get to is, is any of this 
going to alleviate the necessity of a Federal predatory lending law? 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. I think that is a decision that the Congress will 
have to make. 

Mr. WATT. Okay. And one of the impediments to passage of any 
kind of predatory lending legislation last year was the debate about 
whether it ought to be a Federal preemptive standard or whether 
it ought to be a floor, which would leave States to innovate and do 
what they are doing already. I assume I know what the State posi-
tion on that would be, or do I know what the State position would 
be, either you support a Federal preemptive standard or you do 
not? 

Mr. ANTONAKES. Well, in the case of my State of Massachu-
setts— 

Mr. WATT. I cannot get a yes or no answer out of you all, can 
I? We have 5 minutes, I am trying to get to—either you support 
a Federal preemptive standard or you don’t. 

Mr. ANTONAKES. I would support one as long as it did not water 
down existing State rules and allow for State enforcement. 

Mr. WATT. So you would just wipe out a Federal preemptive 
standard even if it was lower than Massachusetts’ standard? 

Mr. ANTONAKES. No, I would support a Federal law if standards 
were set appropriately high. 

Mr. WATT. What if it lowered California’s standard or North 
Carolina’s standard but raised everybody else’s standard, would 
you support it or not? 

Mr. ANTONAKES. I am in a position where our standards in Mas-
sachusetts are fairly high so I would come at it from that perspec-
tive. 

Mr. WATT. Are you here speaking on behalf of an organization? 
Would your organization support a Federal preemptive standard 
that lowered any State standard that is already in existence? 

Mr. ANTONAKES. That is something we would have to discuss 
within our organization. 

Mr. WATT. So you do not have a position, that is what you are 
saying? 

Mr. ANTONAKES. I do not believe we have taken a formal position 
on that issue. 

Mr. WATT. All right, my time is up. You all have rope a doped 
me for 5 minutes now and nobody has given me an answer to any-
thing. I do not know why you all come over here to testify if you 
will not take a position on anything. I yield back, Madam Chair-
woman. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. I thank the gentleman, and I yield 5 
minutes to the full committee ranking member, Mr. Bachus from 
Alabama. 

Mr. BACHUS. Thank you. Actually, I thought that he did take a 
position, but it may not have been the position that the member 
liked. Let me follow up by saying that— 

Mr. WATT. If you do not have a position, that is a position, I 
guess. 
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Mr. BACHUS. I hope that is not taking my time. Could my time 
start again? 

Mr. WATT. I ask unanimous consent to give the gentleman back 
whatever time I took from him. 

Mr. BACHUS. Thank you. I will say that the gentleman from 
North Carolina and I did work well together last year trying to re-
solve our differences, but the legislation I offered last year was the 
North Carolina legislation, which is considered a very strong stand-
ard. It also gave the attorneys general of the States the right to 
enforce, which you said was important to the State of Massachu-
setts. It also gave an individual right of action. Let me ask this, 
we have now Federal guidance in place and are moving towards 
regulation. We have 29 States that have adopted the Federal guid-
ance. We obviously have 21 States that have not—I do not know 
how many of those States have a tough State standard, but I would 
ask the committee, what are some of the gaps in regulation as they 
exist today? And let me propose one of them and maybe just ask 
you about this one, most mortgage brokers are honest people, and 
I think they do a very good job for their clients but we have bad 
actors and we have all heard of cases of one broker who made $2- 
to $300 bad loans, loans that should not have been made, some-
times defrauded the institutions, what do you think about national 
licensing and registration? I will just start with Ms. Bair. 

Ms. BAIR. Well, I think CSBS and the States are moving forward 
with a State-based national licensing regime which would not re-
quire Federal intervention. I think a significant Federal role in reg-
ulating mortgage brokers— 

Mr. BACHUS. Do what now? 
Ms. BAIR. I think a significant Federal role in supervising mort-

gage brokers, if that is what you are suggesting— 
Mr. BACHUS. Yes. 
Ms. BAIR.I think that would be difficult and challenging. There 

are State apparatuses in place for regulating the loan originators 
as well as banks whom we all regulate. 

Mr. BACHUS. You have the mortgage brokers and then you have 
the loan originators who work for the national institutions. 

Ms. BAIR. Right, right. 
Mr. BACHUS. And they are regulated. 
Ms. BAIR. But you can manage—you can regulate third party re-

lationships. For instance, the banks that we regulate, we regulate 
the third party relationships— 

Mr. BACHUS. What about a national registration or national li-
censing? 

Ms. BAIR. I would defer to Steve. I think that the States are al-
ready putting together a national registry and that they may be on 
that track at a State-based level. 

Mr. BACHUS. Okay. 
Mr. ANTONAKES. Yes, we have worked for 3 years on creating a 

national database, ensuring that all entities licensed by the States 
are entered into this database and we have common sharing of in-
formation. We believe it will significantly improve supervision over 
mortgage brokers. I would also add that just as the States have a 
duty to supervise the conduct of the mortgage brokers, the entities 
doing business, including banks that have outsourced their 
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subprime lending to brokers, have a duty also to supervise that re-
lationship between the banks and the mortgage brokers as well. It 
seems to me that a far better method of coordinated examination 
would include a national bank being supervised by their national 
bank regulator, and also looking at the broker network in tandem 
with States doing simultaneous examinations of those brokers, so 
we could determine from the bank regulator’s perspective whether 
the controls are in place and from the State perspective, ensuring 
that appropriate business practices by the brokers are being ad-
hered to. I think marshaling our resources and working together 
would provide a far better system of supervision. 

Mr. BACHUS. My thought is that we do need a national licensing 
or registration of brokers. As to how it is enforced, I am not sure. 
But I would like any proposals that you all have because I think 
that is a gap in the present system because, as you said, you have 
national institutions that are now farming out their work to people 
outside the bank. 

Mr. ANTONAKES. But, again, we believe our system will capture 
that information and will result in a far better supervisory process 
for the brokers as well as the lenders that are supervised— 

Mr. BACHUS. Well, it will on institutions but how about those 
States which—now, do you require licensing or registration of all 
brokers? 

Mr. ANTONAKES. We require licensing of all non-bank mortgage 
lenders and mortgage brokers and the majority of States require 
similar standards and the system we believe will substantially im-
prove coordination among the States and information sharing for 
the States, the vast majority of States that license lenders and bro-
kers as well. 

Mr. BACHUS. How are these brokers getting away with moving 
from State to State and continuing to make—there has been some 
documentation on some of them making as many as a thousand 
fraudulent loans in three or four States? 

Mr. ANTONAKES. I think the database will resolve that issue be-
cause of common information sharing, access to Federal criminal 
databases, the form shopping which exists and which a company 
gets into trouble in one jurisdiction, changes the name, creates a 
straw, that type of opportunity is going to be gone once the data-
base is up and running in less than 9 months. 

Mr. BACHUS. Let me ask one follow-up question. 
Chairwoman MALONEY. You have 30 additional seconds. 
Mr. BACHUS. We talked about loans and defaulting loans, what 

about lending to homebuilders, is that jeopardized? It is a very im-
portant industry and obviously as homebuilders experience prob-
lem—have you seen a pull back in the amounts of loans to home-
builders? 

Mr. REICH. I think homebuilders who have built speculative 
homes have certainly curtailed their activities and our re-trenching 
in certain parts of the country where supplies of homes have built 
up, so I am aware of and have heard in a number of parts of the 
country that homebuilders are indeed re-trenching. 

Mr. BACHUS. Are there defaulting loans from the banks, institu-
tions—having delinquencies in loans to homebuilders? 
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Mr. REICH. With one exception, in the State of Florida there was 
an institution that likely will result in some losses to that institu-
tion because of an over-build situation and some irregularities, 
which also took place. But on a broader basis, I am not aware of 
losses occurring in institutions because of re-trenching among 
homebuilders. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. The gentleman’s time has expired. Mr. 
Gutierrez of Illinois. 

Mr. GUTIERREZ. Thank you so much. I would like to first just 
talk a moment about the overall banking industry and financial 
services industry because it seems to me that a lot of this is about 
credit and who gets credit in the United States of America. I am 
lucky to be 53 years old, so I remember when getting a Mont-
gomery Ward’s card at 18 percent was hard to get, and then get-
ting a J.C. Penney card. When I got my first MasterCard, it was 
like 150 bucks and they really checked to make sure. Now my col-
lege daughter gets invitations every week to get credit. 

So having a conversation about what is happening in the 
subprime without having a conversation about what is happening 
overall in the United States as it refers to how we get credit in this 
country is really doing a disservice to the whole issue. And I would 
like to say that, Madam Chairwoman, I am so happy you called 
this hearing because we have the Comptroller of the Currency who 
does not think that the gentleman from Massachusetts should be 
able to regulate if he makes a decision and he makes a ruling at 
the OCC, he thinks he should preempt him. So it is very inter-
esting to watch both of them sit at the same table as though they 
are both friends and allies of the same people but I do not believe 
they are allies and friends of the same people. 

I think you should be working together not at cross battle from 
one another. And I think that that is a serious job and so as we 
look at this issue, we should see what the OCC is doing in terms 
of trying to preempt because I believe, as many of my colleagues 
on the other side of the aisle, that many of the best things that 
happen in government happen at the local level. But if our State 
attorneys general cannot take actions, and I have spoken to my at-
torney general, they cannot lock anybody up for doing things that 
are just as fraudulent as the guys at Tyco and Enron have done 
in the subprime industry and in the mortgage industry. I have seen 
examples of it. 

You all in that panel, if you have not seen examples of things 
people should have gone to jail for, then I do not know what you 
have been doing so I am going to assume that you know much 
more than I do and have seen the situations much more than I do. 
So I would just like to say that CitiBank went to CitiGroup and 
CitiFinancial, they are in the subprime industry, so as all levels of 
regulation, you should look at what it is they are doing and how 
it is that they are doing this because they are part of the problem. 

I heard some people say we do not want to constrain credit, well, 
if we do not constrain credit to those who are either not worthy of 
the credit because they do not have the ability to pay and they 
know they do not have the ability to pay going in, that is why in 
great measure we have a subprime industry. There should be con-
siderations. That is why my earlier statement, when I got my first 
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mortgage back in 1981, I remember bringing all the documentation 
to the banker. I knew that banker. He knew who I was. He checked 
me out. 

Now we are issuing loans, I buy a piece of land and I build a 
house, and we speculate on what it is going to be worth later on. 
Somebody is going to pay the consequences of this subprime indus-
try, 20 percent of the loans. So I want to thank the gentleman, Mr. 
Watt, for bringing things up. 

I want to read something that was put into the record but I want 
to read it again from the Honorable Sheila Bair. It says, ‘‘We un-
derstand FRB is in the midst of reviewing the regulations that im-
plement HOEPA. The FDIC would strongly support the FRB 
should it decide to make greater use of its authorities provided by 
HOEPA to address predatory practices. Many abuses might be 
more effectively addressed by regulation rather than statute, espe-
cially in the areas as misleading marketing in which the manner 
and types of abuse change.’’ I suggest you do it and that you work 
together and that that is what you are, you are all in public service 
as we are and that we not have to have a hearing so that you can 
communicate with one another about these issues. 

I would like to ask one question of Ms. Bair following up on Mr. 
Watt. In your testimony, you suggest one option for Congress is to 
articulate a set of anti-predatory lending standards through legisla-
tion. One of the issues we wrestle with up here is preempting the 
States because, as you acknowledge in your testimony, the States 
have proven to be innovators when it comes to consumer protection 
issues regarding Federal legislation. Do you think Congress should 
establish a floor for protections by establishing a set of minimum 
standards or should we just preempt the States and implement a 
national standard? 

Ms. BAIR. If you are simply establishing a floor, I do not think 
that you want to preempt additional State protections above that, 
no, I do not think you should do that. There could be another ap-
proach, you could try a more prescriptive, very strong standard and 
there might be justification for preemption if you were sure that 
you were raising the bar, not lowering it. But I think the whole 
point of this is to increase broad protections, not decrease them, so 
unless you were confident you were doing that, I would recommend 
against preempting. 

Mr. GUTIERREZ. Thank you. 
Mr. WATT. Madam Chairwoman, could I ask unanimous consent 

to get a response to that question from the other panelists? 
Chairwoman MALONEY. So granted. 
Mr. REICH. I would agree with Chairman Bair; I think enacting 

a standard with a low bar would not be a productive act for Con-
gress to undertake. 

Ms. JOHNSON. I would agree that in that setting a low bar would 
be an exercise in futility. It is not going to get to the heart of the 
problem in protecting the consumer. 

Mr. GUTIERREZ. Madam Chairwoman? Should we set standards? 
Chairwoman MALONEY. Let the other witnesses respond. Mr. 

Rushton? 
Mr. RUSHTON. We would argue against a low bar, as well. 
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Mr. WATT. Madam Chairwoman, I hate to interrupt him but they 
are not answering the question that has been asked. The question 
is, should there be a Federal preemptive standard, whether it is a 
low bar or a high bar, should there be a Federal preemptive stand-
ard? That is the question. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Okay, then let’s go back to Ms. Johnson, 
do you think there should be a Federal preemptive standard? 

Ms. JOHNSON. I have to be honest with you, it is not an issue 
that we have had a hearty discussion about at the agency. We do 
not have broad preemptive—we do not do a broad preemptive 
power right now and so I would really have to study it before giv-
ing an answer. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Okay, Mr. Rushton? 
Mr. RUSHTON. The OCC has a fairly robust anti-predatory lend-

ing standard now. We would certainly support a Federal standard 
so long as it did not dilute ours. We are hopeful that this guidance 
that we have proposed, along with the natural correction that is oc-
curring in the market today, would serve the purpose of stemming 
these abuses. But if it does not, then we would certainly support 
the Congress if it decided to set a national standard. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Ms. Braunstein? 
Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. The Board has not taken a position on a Fed-

eral preemptive standard at this time. 
Mr. ANTONAKES. We could support a Federal preemption stand-

ard again as long as the standard was set high enough and allowed 
for State enforcement. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. The Chair recognizes Judy Biggert of Il-
linois for 5 minutes. 

Mrs. BIGGERT. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. We are having 
a lot of discussion in Illinois, particularly in the Chicago area, 
about this issue. I think the papers describe one woman who re-
ceived a mortgage for $3,800 a month while she only brought in 
$2,600 a month. So obviously before the mortgage was even con-
summated, she was behind in the payments, on the promise by the 
broker that the payments would be lowered as she went along. Ob-
viously, there was a foreclosure. 

One recent law in Illinois was put in that said that in certain zip 
codes in Cook County, there would be mandatory counseling on 
mortgages if your credit score was below a certain level. And every-
thing, I think, has unintended consequences. What happened there 
was that in the area they were worried about racism, that was 
something brought up. And they were also worried that lenders 
were leaving those zip codes and going other places. So the law is 
now out for public comment in all of Cook County, which surrounds 
Chicago, there would be mandatory counseling for everyone wanted 
a non-traditional mortgage, regardless of their credit score, that 
they would have to go to mandatory counseling. 

Now, I believe in financial literacy, but I think that this is car-
rying things to an extreme, for anyone who ever wants a non-tradi-
tional mortgage. And in the zip codes there had been a high per-
centage of foreclosures and a large percentage of high-risk mort-
gages that were applied for. So I would just like to ask two ques-
tions. One, what would you think of such an idea? And, two, what 
should a lender do when there, when they know that there is going 
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to be a foreclosure and somebody is in trouble and a lot of these 
will not refinance? Let’s start with you, Chairman Bair. 

Ms. BAIR. Well, I am not sure, you mean my view on the idea 
regarding counseling for non-traditional mortgages? 

Mrs. BIGGERT. Yes. 
Ms. BAIR. I think that the lender needs to have the obligation to 

make a determination that the borrower has the capacity to repay, 
and I think if you have that kind of good underwriting, a lot of 
these other problems go away and it does not sound like that was 
done in the case of your constituent. I think we need to be very 
careful when we start saying that subprime loans will have certain 
requirements and not prime loans because I think you do have a 
potentially discriminatory impact, and I think that is to be avoided. 
A lot of these products are very complex, no matter how much fi-
nancial education, and a lot of typical homeowners are not going 
to understand them. That is why I think the lenders who are offer-
ing these products need to have the onus on them to qualify the 
buyer so that they have a product that they can afford. 

Mrs. BIGGERT. Would anybody else like to address that issue? 
Mr. REICH. Well, I would certainly say that I think the notion of 

having counseling available is excellent but mandating it would be 
something that I would be uncomfortable with. With regard to fore-
closures, as you mentioned near the end of your remarks, that the 
impact of foreclosures and what can financial institutions do, we 
have been encouraging our institutions, and I think to some extent 
perhaps all of us at the table have been encouraging our institu-
tions to work with borrowers to try to prevent the foreclosure proc-
ess through extending payments, re-writing the obligations in a 
satisfactory underwritten matter, similar to as we did following 
Katrina with our institutions in Louisiana and Mississippi, we en-
couraged their institutions to be understanding and proactive in 
trying to help people resolve their problems and that is what we 
are trying to do today. 

Mrs. BIGGERT. Thank you. 
Ms. JOHNSON. I would like to add that the counseling is a big 

part of the educational process for many of the credit unions. They 
are working with NeighborWorks America and with other organiza-
tions and groups out there where counseling actually is a part of 
the process. Understanding that stack of paperwork before signing 
on the dotted line is important and if the consumer is educated on 
the front-end, exactly knowing how those payments may have an 
opportunity should the interest rates rise, etc., will make a better 
consumer and it is good for the institution as well. So I do not 
know as far as mandating it, but I would certainly heavily encour-
age it. 

Mrs. BIGGERT. Thank you. 
Chairwoman MALONEY. Carolyn McCarthy of New York? 
Mrs. MCCARTHY. I thank you. One of the things that I am curi-

ous about, I did not hear it in any of the statements, what is in 
place to penalize those who abuse the system and basically make 
these loans to people that they cannot repay? Is there anything in 
place, are they fined? Some of them are not licensed so they cannot 
lose their license. It goes back to the other question that one of my 
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colleagues mentioned, that he just goes to another State. So I am 
just curious, what is the penalty for making these kind of loans? 

Mr. ANTONAKES. In the Commonwealth of Massachusetts over 
the summer, we did a sting of approximately 100 mortgage brokers 
that were primarily servicing low- and moderate-income areas, and 
we focused primarily on the issue of stated income loans and to the 
extent that we could document evidence that income stated on 
these loans had been, in fact, inflated. The net result of our exami-
nations where we issued cease and desist orders, essentially shut-
tering, I believe, nine brokers, putting them out of business, fines 
were involved, and we have made referrals for appropriate criminal 
action to our State attorney general who will be looking to follow 
up. 

Mrs. MCCARTHY. What kind of fines? 
Mr. ANTONAKES. The fines were in the hundreds of thousands of 

dollars. The primary issue for us was— 
Mrs. MCCARTHY. Did they pay the fines? 
Mr. ANTONAKES. We have had some pay the fines and others— 
Mrs. MCCARTHY. Some paid? 
Mr. ANTONAKES. The ones that we allowed to continue in busi-

ness under very different structures paid the fines, others were—
and those cases involved only a very individual rogue employee 
versus a systemic issue. The ones with systemic issues are con-
cerned with shutting those companies down and not allowing them 
to do business any further in the commonwealth and where appro-
priate we believe we have made referrals to again our State attor-
ney general, who we will hope will prosecute in what we would be-
lieve would be a firmer resolution at the end of the day. 

Mrs. MCCARTHY. So with Massachusetts particularly, there is ab-
solutely no reason for these brokers who are out there to actually 
stop, is there? No answers? 

Ms. BAIR. We regulate banks but we do have regulations and su-
pervisory guidelines pertaining to the relationship of the bank to 
the mortgage broker. 

Mrs. MCCARTHY. What happens to the big guys? 
Ms. BAIR. We bring enforcement actions, we issue cease and de-

sist orders. There can be significant financial penalties as part of 
our regulatory authorities but we can only indirectly impact mort-
gage broker activity through the relationship with the bank. 

Mrs. MCCARTHY. Over the last 6 years that we have been talking 
about this issue, would you say that a lot of them have been pros-
ecuted or fined? I know I am still seeing it in my district. I have 
a very large minority district. I certainly have brought in a lot of 
the financial institutions to educate my constituents and con-
sumers and that is great. A lot of them, unfortunately, do not come 
to the meetings to learn about it and to hear about it. I have a 
group that I work with, the Community Development Institute of 
Long Island, and basically they look for people who want to buy a 
home. Certainly they would be those who are not qualified to buy 
a home but they have to go to school. And my colleague, Ms. 
Biggert, was talking about it where it is mandatory; this is not 
mandatory. Well, for them it is mandatory because if you want the 
loan, you have to go through schooling because one of the things 
no one ever talks about, some banks do, a lot of them do not, what 
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are the taxes going to be, what are your utilities going to be? It 
is one thing to say you have a mortgage there, what is your insur-
ance going to be? You hold those things up and most people, a lot 
of people would not be able to afford that. Should that not be into 
the education of the consumer when they are trying to take out a 
loan? 

Ms. BAIR. Well, our guidance specifically requires lenders, when 
they underwrite the loan, to take into account taxes and insurance 
as part of the underwriting process. It is not just the principal and 
interest, it is the taxes and insurance as well. And, yes, I have 
heard anecdotal reports of situations where that underwriting does 
not reflect taxes and insurance and you end up with these kind of 
serial refinancing situations where every time the tax and insur-
ance comes due, you have a situation where the borrower has to 
refinance. 

Just getting back to your original question as well, I would point 
out that under Unfair and Deceptive Acts and Practices authority 
under the FTC Act, the FTC can bring actions though they obvi-
ously have limited resources. State AGs as well, under State laws 
prohibiting unfair or deceptive acts or practices, can bring actions 
addressing the type of conduct that you mentioned. 

Mrs. MCCARTHY. I guess what boggles my mind is that, and 
probably because we sit on this committee, when you look at—on 
TV, they advertise constantly you can refinance your mortgage for 
4.2 percent. I yield back my time. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Patrick McHenry of North Carolina? 
Mr. MCHENRY. I thank the chairwoman. I want to thank the 

panel for being here, as well. Ms. Johnson, at NCUA, in your testi-
mony you said that—you cited some stats on fixed rate and adjust-
able rate mortgages for credit unions and you said 68 percent of 
credit unions are for mortgages of some size or some scope. To 
what extent do credit unions make subprime or non-prime loans? 

Ms. JOHNSON. Congressman, thank you, that is a good question. 
Sixty-one percent of the loans are fixed, that leaves 39 percent ad-
justable. In our current 5300 Report, we have not been separating 
out the exotics in the subprime. We have changed that reporting 
method and starting with this quarterly report, we will now be able 
to measure that directly. 

Mr. MCHENRY. So you do not know? 
Ms. JOHNSON. Our educated guess is that it is less than 1 per-

cent. It is very low because the overall numbers for credit unions 
are very low. 

Mr. MCHENRY. But there is no way to know, you do not have any 
data? 

Ms. JOHNSON. We will shortly. 
Mr. MCHENRY. But the answer is, no, we have no data. Okay, 

thank you. 
Ms. JOHNSON. But I think it is important— 
Mr. MCHENRY. I would suggest to you that perhaps these non-

traditional loans, non-prime loans may help serve your mission to 
help the underserved. Further, Mr. Reich, with OTS, is it true that 
many of the foreclosures and delinquencies we are seeing are a re-
sult of mortgage fraud? 
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Mr. REICH. It is true that mortgage fraud has become a signifi-
cant problem, yes. 

Mr. MCHENRY. Do you have any statistics? 
Mr. REICH. I do not have data, I will be glad to get back to you 

in writing if we have data available. 
Mr. MCHENRY. I would certainly appreciate that. That is what 

I am trying to get at is what portion of foreclosures and delin-
quencies are due to actual fraud because that is certainly a prob-
lem in the marketplace. And rather than simply blaming the lend-
er, let’s also look at the borrower, perhaps they have some burden 
here as well. 

Additionally, we talked about a number of things here today. The 
OCC, Mr. Rushton, you testified that national banks are about 10 
percent of the subprime market, is that correct? 

Mr. RUSHTON. Yes, less than 10 percent of the new originations 
last year came from national banks. 

Mr. MCHENRY. Is that based on volume or dollar? 
Mr. RUSHTON. Dollar amount. 
Mr. MCHENRY. Dollar amount? 
Mr. RUSHTON. Yes, sir. 
Mr. MCHENRY. Okay, do you have any statistics on actual per-

centage of originations and numbers? 
Mr. RUSHTON. The total dollar amount was about $60 billion in 

subprime loans, a little bit less than that in Alt-A loans that are 
below prime but not subprime. Combined, they come out to about 
16 or 17 percent of all of the below-prime loans that were made in 
the system last year. 

Mr. MCHENRY. Certainly. Mr. Reich, you also testified that you 
have seen this economic cycle 6 times, I think that is a fascinating 
amount of experience you have. And you said 13 percent of the na-
tional mortgage debt is within subprime? 

Mr. REICH. That is correct. 
Mr. MCHENRY. Okay, so what I have been hearing today is deal-

ing with 13 percent of the mortgage market. What I would ask the 
whole panel, could you say yes or no, is the mortgage marketplace 
working, meaning supply and demand, is that functionally in the 
marketplace? What we have it seems now in the mortgage market-
place nationally with record homeownership is that there was a 
large amount of credit that was available because people were will-
ing to take higher risks with the possibility of return for that risk. 
And then in reaction to that, with the changing economy, the ac-
tual mortgage market is constricting. So if we could just go quickly, 
I do not have much time left, to simply say whether or not you 
think it is actually functioning, the mortgage marketplace is actu-
ally functioning, just yes or no or perhaps—with my colleague from 
North Carolina, I realize that many of you will say ‘‘maybe’’ or 
something long-winded, if I could just get a ‘‘yes’’ or ‘‘no’’ out of you 
or you could just simply say, ‘‘Pass.’’ 

Ms. BAIR. I would have to say on a macro-level, yes. But on a 
micro-level for individual families, no, for a lot of them it has not 
been working. 

Mr. MCHENRY. Mel, I think you are right about the panel. Num-
ber two? 

VerDate 0ct 09 2002 17:20 Jul 27, 2007 Jkt 035410 PO 00000 Frm 00038 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 K:\DOCS\35410.TXT HFIN PsN: TERRIE



31

Mr. REICH. I would say yes. If I had the opportunity to clarify 
it, I would say that maybe for 15 percent of the market it is not 
working as smoothly as it should be. 

Ms. JOHNSON. I would say yes. In fact, we encourage credit 
unions to try to assist their subprime borrowers and make a dif-
ference between subprime and predatory lending. A lot of subprime 
borrowers out there need to be in a home as well and it can be 
done with proper due diligence. 

Mr. RUSHTON. We say yes, and we believe it will correct itself as 
it has in prior cycles. 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. I would say yes, but we do have concerns about 
those areas where it is not working as well as it should be. 

Mr. ANTONAKES. Yes, but it can be improved. 
Chairwoman MALONEY. The gentleman’s time has expired. Mr. 

Clay of Missouri? 
Mr. CLAY. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. Let me start with 

Ms. Braunstein. In St. Louis, Missouri, it is predicted that almost 
20 percent of all subprime loans will go into foreclosure. This prob-
lem that we have in the subprime mortgage industry is cata-
strophic. This did not happen overnight. The system has numerous 
fail-safes to detect such happenings and why is it that the Federal 
Reserve system did not see this coming? Why is it that our other 
agencies that watch or control banking and commerce did not see 
this coming? Was the problem one of not seeing a situation or in 
just not reacting? What happened and who dropped the ball? 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. Congressman, actually, we did see that there 
were issues in these markets and we have been issuing guidance 
on real estate and subprime as far back as the 1990’s to try to ad-
dress the situations as we saw them. This recent phenomena that 
we are seeing right now, actually the downturn did not come until 
late 2006 so that is a fairly recent phenomena and as soon as we 
saw it, we did issue the new proposed guidance for subprime mort-
gages. So we have been taking actions all along and we have done 
a number of things with other guidance and regulations to try to 
address the situation. 

Mr. CLAY. Let me go to Mr. Rushton, the Comptroller of the Cur-
rency. Ohio, which had the highest foreclosure rate in the Nation 
at the end of last year, plans to issue $100 million in taxable mu-
nicipal bonds next month to help homeowners refinance mortgages. 
Proceeds from the bond issued by the Ohio Housing Financing 
Agency will finance 1,000 loans with a fixed rate of 6.75 percent. 
The loans will be limited to homeowners with incomes up to 125 
percent of the median income of their county and will take them 
out of their adjustable rate mortgages, interest-only mortgages, and 
avail them the opportunity to move into fixed rate mortgages. Is 
this a solution that can be used on the Federal level? What are the 
pros and cons of this solution on a nationwide basis? And can this 
work as an assist with other programs and solutions to avert home 
foreclosures? 

Mr. RUSHTON. What you have described sounds like an excellent 
solution in terms of a takeout program that will alleviate pressure 
on the borrowers in trying to find financing that is going to be very 
difficult for them to get. It is helpful in another very important way 
in that it gets around all of the restrictions that may apply to some 
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of these loans that are now in securitizations or subject to other 
servicing agreements where the holders of the loans have not given 
any flexibility to work with the borrowers to help them out. Your 
program would get around that, and it sounds very good based on 
the parameters you have outlined. In terms of a more omnibus ap-
plication of it on a Federal level, we would be delighted to work 
with the subcommittee in exploring that. 

Mr. CLAY. Thank you for that response. Let me share with the 
panel a recent publication from the Sunday St. Louis Post Dispatch 
with the headline, ‘‘Minorities Beware: Home Loans Reflect Bias.’’ 
And this is a question for anybody who cares to take a stab at it 
on the panel. A recent study by the Center for Responsible Lending 
concluded that black borrowers are 3.2 times more likely to receive 
a higher rate than white borrowers and the disparity decreases 
when adjusted for differences in credit scores, income, and other 
risk factors but significant differences remain. After adjusting for 
such traits, blacks were still 1.6 times more likely to get higher 
rate subprime loans than whites when purchasing a home and 1.3 
times more likely in refinancing, Hispanics too. Tell me how do we 
address that? What do we do? How do we take the race factor out 
of home loans? And I am going to ask the next panel who comes 
forward also, but how would you address the race factor? 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. One of the things that we are doing, and I 
think all the agencies do, is we conduct very robust examinations, 
fair lending examinations, in our institutions. We look closely at 
the data that comes out and when there are pricing disparities and 
we use that as an initial screen to go in and gather more informa-
tion and do very thorough analyses of what lenders are doing in 
terms of pricing and who the loans are made to. If we find that 
they are making pricing decisions based on race, we will refer them 
to the Department of Justice and we have done so. And the prob-
lem sometimes is not all these loans—in the statistics you are read-
ing, not all those loans are being made in the depository institu-
tions that are being regulated and having robust fair lending ex-
aminations. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. The gentleman’s time has expired. Mr. 
Neugebauer of Texas? 

Mr. NEUGEBAUER. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. I kind of re-
late to what Mr. Reich said, I have been in the real estate business 
through most of those cycles and have some scars to show from it. 
One of the things I want to go back to is back in the 1970’s when 
I was in the banking business and originating mortgages, we 
used—kind of the guidelines were set by the marketplace and that 
was Freddie Mac, Fannie Mae, FHA, and the PMI companies. In 
other words, you used their underwriting guidelines and that pret-
ty much set the standard for the markets. And if you made a loan 
that was kind of outside those guidelines, and I was in the banking 
business at that particular time, we just knew that we were going 
to have to hold that loan in our portfolio. And so one of the ques-
tions that I have today is as we move down this road I think it is 
important to make the distinction between subprime lending and 
predatory lending, those are really two different issues, and we 
need to be careful here that we are not trying to fix one with the 
problems that exist in the other. But in your mind today with the 
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sophistication of our financial markets, the fact that those four en-
tities really do not control as much of the flow of the mortgage 
lending activity today, do you still think within the marketplace 
today there are enough market forces that we do not need to really 
start down the road of mandating what the criteria for mortgages 
are going to be? And I will start with you, Ms. Bair, and kind of 
run across the table there. 

Ms. BAIR. Well, I think it is a very perceptive question. In 
securitization, most subprime mortgages are purchased by the so-
called private label, the non-agency investors. There is a lot of li-
quidity these days and there has been an analysis suggesting that 
has played a role in the depressing of lending standards. When you 
were in the business, you held that loan in the books, you worried 
about whether it was going to perform. Now all the stuff can be 
sold off. We are having a securitization roundtable with OTS and 
OCC and the FRB on April 16th, and one of the issues we are 
going to look at is the impact of securitization on underwriting and 
also going forward how to help people restructure loans so that 
they can get into a product they can repay and how we work with 
the investor community to accomplish that. 

Mr. NEUGEBAUER. Mr. Reich? 
Mr. REICH. I am a little reluctant to see Congress become so pre-

scriptive as to proscribe underwriting standards for various types 
of loans. I feel the same way frankly about regulatory agencies be-
coming overly prescriptive. That takes away the creativity for 
bankers to do what they do best in devising solutions for particular 
borrowers. 

Mr. NEUGEBAUER. Thank you. Ms. Johnson? 
Ms. JOHNSON. Credit unions do use the secondary market, how-

ever, many of them retain the servicing, etc. However, credit 
unions are restricted in their investment opportunities and are re-
stricted to highly rated securities so purchasing those is different 
for credit unions. 

Mr. NEUGEBAUER. Okay, Mr. Rushton? 
Mr. RUSHTON. We would be a little wary about endorsing under-

writing standards by the government, frankly, because it would be 
difficult to apply to the entities that have become preeminent in re-
cent years. The reason that the GSEs have declined in importance 
is because the investment banks, including Wall Street firms, have 
been able to do this business themselves, and they are selling to 
investors who do not have the same interest at heart in terms of 
consumer protection and other risk considerations as banks do. If 
a standard could be written that could be applied to the Wall 
Street firms and other players equally, then we would probably 
support it, but we would be wary of doing that because you are es-
sentially substituting Federal judgment for that of the willing bor-
rower and lender and funder of the credit. 

Mr. NEUGEBAUER. Ms. Braunstein? 
Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. Yes, we would also be concerned about dic-

tating underwriting standards. As I mentioned even in regards to 
using our HOEPA authority, we want to be very careful that what-
ever is done is not an overreaction to a specific situation and that 
it does not constrain responsible lending that is out there in the 
market. 
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Mr. NEUGEBAUER. Mr. Antonakes? 
Mr. ANTONAKES. Well, the Wall Street firms and securitization 

have resulted in a great deal of additional credit being made avail-
able but we cannot ignore the fact that they have also created the 
desire for a very high-risk product and the market is adjusting, but 
I would say a little too late and I do believe that the guidelines, 
as issued by the Federal regulators and the States, are essential 
in ensuring that tenets of sound underwriting are adhered to at all 
times. 

Mr. NEUGEBAUER. I want to go back to Ms. Bair just for a 
quick—one of the things I was noticing that as this subprime thing 
started kind of unraveling, a lot of the repurchase agreements 
started being put back, and I guess from a regulatory standpoint, 
have you all been kind of reviewing not only the ability of the re-
purchasing folks, when banks or financial institutions are holding 
those for investment purposes? 

Ms. BAIR. There have been a lot of put-backs, and I think that 
is another area of concern. The representations and warranties 
part of these securitization agreements can sometimes be quite 
broad in enabling the securitization program to put the loans back 
and that is obviously a problem for us because they have not held 
capital. We have assumed those assets have gone. So, yes, it is an-
other thing that we are looking at. We are concerned about it, we 
are tracking it, but at this point, I do not think that it presents 
a fundamental safety and soundness issue for insured institutions. 
It is certainly something we are very aware of and scrutinizing. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. The gentleman’s time has expired. Brad 
Miller of North Carolina, also a leader on this issue. 

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Thank you, Madam Chair-
woman. Mr. Rushton, you testified that the subprime mortgage 
lending market had made homeownership much more available, 
that many people could get into a first home as a result of 
subprime lending, which I do not doubt is correct, but the Mortgage 
Banker’s Association’s estimate is at 55 percent of subprime loans 
are refinances and only 45 percent are for the money to purchase 
homes with, is that correct? 

Mr. RUSHTON. I do not have any reason to disagree with the 
MBA’s numbers on that. 

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Okay, and their estimate is 
about one quarter of subprime loans to purchase a home or for first 
time purchases, does that sound correct? 

Mr. RUSHTON. Yes, sir. 
Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. So it is about 11 percent of 

subprime mortgage loans are actually to purchase a first time— 
Mr. RUSHTON. If that is what the math comes out to. 
Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Okay. Do we have any data on 

the defaults and how much of the defaults are refinances, how 
many that are mortgages to purchase a home with, and particu-
larly a first time? 

Mr. RUSHTON. That data may be available, sir, but I do not have 
it with me today. We would be glad to try to supply that to you. 

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Okay, where is it available? 
Mr. RUSHTON. Back at our office. 
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Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Okay, I would be very inter-
ested in seeing that. 

Mr. RUSHTON. Okay. 
Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. And there has been a lot of as-

sumption in the reporting on this question in the last couple of 
months that the defaults were mainly folks who were just spend-
thrifts who were buying more house than they could afford and 
could not pay their mortgages. Do you know if there was any infor-
mation that shows that is in fact what is happening or people who 
got in trouble, the usual kinds—death, divorce, job loss, necessary 
home repairs? 

Mr. RUSHTON. The precise reason that a borrower develops finan-
cial problems is not something that we track, but we can try to run 
that down. 

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Okay. Just to pick on some-
body different, Ms. Bair, Mr. Clay asked about the OMDA data 
which shows that about 17 percent of white families who are bor-
rowing for mortgages, we are not talking about all borrowing, we 
are talking about mortgage borrowing, which is something that is 
usually more restricted to the middle class or in subprime loans 
but almost half of Latinos and more than half of African American 
families. The Center for Responsible Lending has analyzed that 
further and found that every other objective criterion went into 
value assets, income, credit history, everything else, even when 
that is taken into account, there are still substantial disparities, is 
that consistent with your own observation? 

Ms. BAIR. Yes, we are very concerned about this and have ad-
dressed it in the draft subprime guidance that is out for comment 
now. Some of the lending analyses we have been doing on subprime 
mortgages that have been securitized, which is most of them, show 
that there is a big percentage, I think 14 percent, where the FICO 
score was actually over 700. 

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Right. 
Ms. BAIR. Which leads you to wonder, why is this person in a 

subprime loan? 
Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. But Freddie Mac, I think, esti-

mated a couple of years ago that 25 percent of the subprime mort-
gages they purchased were from borrowers who qualified for the 
bond market. 

Ms. BAIR. There is a problem that borrowers are not referred up. 
A lot of lenders just specialize in subprime so if they qualify a per-
son, that is the product that they do instead of referring him to the 
prime products. 

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. And that is, in fact, something 
that Ms. Braunstein also raised, so perhaps both of you, one thing 
that I have heard argued is that African Americans are simply 
choosing different mortgage products, and I have some difficulty 
imagining an African American homeowner walking into a finan-
cial institution, a lender of any kind, and saying, ‘‘Can I get a 2/
28 mortgage with a teaser rate that I can qualify for but an ad-
justed rate I cannot possibly pay and a 4 year prepayment pen-
alty.’’ Do you really think that African Americans are consciously 
choosing different mortgage products, either or both of you but you 
can go first, okay? 
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Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. I do not know that it is a conscious choice. 
What we heard, in fact, in the hearings that we did over the sum-
mer anecdotally and what we have seen in conversations is that 
there is an enormous amount of push marketing that goes on in 
minority neighborhoods where the purveyors of these subprime 
mortgages are very actively involved in marketing and that same 
level of marketing does not go on by prime lenders. 

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Ms. Bair? 
Ms. BAIR. I was just going to say I think this is a broader prob-

lem—minorities more frequently having high-cost products. We 
have created an Advisory Committee on Economic Inclusion and we 
are trying to look at this broader issue. We want to understand 
why banks are not in there more and to what extent we can get 
mainstream prime bank lenders to do more aggressive marketing 
and servicing in these communities. I think a lot of this is being 
driven by the lender, not by the borrower, and we would like to see 
if we can get banks reaching out more to these neighborhoods. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. The gentleman’s time has expired. Mr. 
Price of Georgia. 

Mr. PRICE. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman, and I want to 
thank you also for holding this hearing. It is an important area, 
one that in my home State of Georgia we have dealt with for a 
number of years, serving in the State legislature we had some in-
teresting challenges a number of years back, as some of you may 
recall. I have had some conflicting meetings this morning, and I 
apologize. I want to thank each of you for coming and I have read 
significant portions of your testimony, and I appreciate the perspec-
tives that you bring to the table. I do not want to repeat specific 
questions that were asked, and I am sure they have been and I will 
review the record for that. But I would like us to step up kind of 
to the 30,000 foot level, my understanding is that each of you have 
stipulated here today that you believe that the mortgage banking 
system is working in our Nation right now and obviously I guess 
the correlate of that is it is accomplishing some good for the major-
ity of folks who are accessing that system. I think the big question 
is whether or not the Federal Government has a further role in de-
fining what ought to occur or whether the guidelines in the regu-
latory apparatus that we have in place right now are capable of 
correcting whatever ill view we, anybody believes is in place or has 
occurred over the last couple of years. So my question, and coming 
from a firm sense of belief that the Federal Government is rel-
atively incapable of being flexible in promoting or providing guide-
lines for any industry, I would ask each of you just the general 
question whether or not you believe that the current system we 
have in place, the regulatory system we have in place, is capable 
and will in fact correct the system or correct any ills that have 
been alleged or whether you believe that further action by the Fed-
eral Government in this specific area is helpful for our overall sys-
tem. And if we could start, Mr. Antonakes, at this end and kind 
of head on down, I would appreciate it. 

Mr. ANTONAKES. I do believe the constructure of regulation will 
appropriately deal with these issues, and I do believe, that being 
said, that within the States we can coordinate and do a better job, 
and with the States and the Federal Government we can coordi-
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nate and do a better job. I think that will result in even more effec-
tive supervision of really every entity involved in the transaction, 
including the broker, the lender, the funder, and then the 
securitization process as well. 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. At this time, we do not see a need to ask Con-
gress for additional authority or additional legislation. We think 
that what is there now is appropriate and can deal with the situa-
tion. 

Mr. RUSHTON. We agree. We believe the non-traditional mort-
gage guidance the agencies issued in October, as well as the 
subprime guidance that we now have out for comment, uniformly 
implemented by all regulators, along with the natural operation of 
the market, is all we need right now. We do not think we need any-
thing else. 

Ms. JOHNSON. If you believe that consumers are better off with 
traditional mortgage products and traditional type loans, there is 
one area where Congress could facilitate with the credit unions 
when we are talking about the underserved areas and the minority 
population in particular. All credit unions are not able to adopt un-
derserved areas, and I think credit unions are a traditional feder-
ally-regulated institution that could reach out to this population in 
particular and help in the subprime are. We encourage with due 
diligence credit unions to make these types of loans to help people 
get into homeownership so that is one thing that needs to be or 
could be changed with the statute. 

Mr. REICH. The market is in the process of correcting itself. We 
have issued guidance for comment, expiring May 7th. Many 
subprime lenders have exited the business. The liquidity for 
subprime lending has essentially dried up and so I think largely 
the market is in the process of correcting itself. Having said that, 
there are a number—there are probably a number of borrowers 
who are going through foreclosure who are not going to benefit 
from the guidance that is proposed. 

Mr. PRICE. If I may, that skirts the question a little bit in that 
the market is correcting itself, but do you—and I do not want to 
minimize the number of foreclosures out there because for each of 
those families obviously it is a significant trial. Do you believe that 
any changes should be put in place to prevent the next cycle that 
might result? 

Mr. REICH. Well, I have expressed some support for Congress to 
take our guidance on subprime lending and make it a standard 
that would apply to all lenders beyond insured institutions. 

Mr. PRICE. I appreciate that. Madam Chairwoman, may I get one 
brief comment from Ms. Bair? 

Chairwoman MALONEY. The gentleman’s time has expired and 
she has spoken on this already several times. 

Mr. PRICE. Thank you. 
Chairwoman MALONEY. David Scott of Georgia? 
Mr. SCOTT. Thank you very much, Madam Chairwoman. If we 

look at the situation as we have it now and with a lot of the testi-
mony that is going forward, with the surveys that have come out 
by Bankrate.com on Monday, and with the fact that I represent the 
State of Georgia, which has the third highest foreclosure rate, with 
the fact that within the next 24 months, 2.2 million homeowners 
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will go into foreclosure and the fact that in addition to that, Mr. 
Greg McBride, who is the senior financial analyst of Bankrate.com 
in the survey points up this salient fact, that the greatest concern 
that we, and I say ‘‘we’’ in the financial service industry have, of 
which we in the financial service industry are victims of is the com-
plexity, the confusion, the culture, and the language of the finan-
cial services area is so confusing that as Bankrate says 40 percent 
of all the homeowners in America, prime and subprime, do not 
even know what they have signed. So it says to me with this infor-
mation that as we move forward on this issue, one of the most im-
portant parts of our legislation should be and must be a major of-
fensive on financial literacy and financial education, which to me 
is the greatest way in which to solve this problem because the 
major concern is how do we come up with that delicate balance 
with which we would be able to put forward legislation that is not 
so overreaching that it will dry up the credit for an underserved 
population which basically has been aptly described, African Amer-
icans, the elderly, the poor, which are targeted. This is a targeted 
phenomena by people who, some legitimate, some bad actors out 
there, but there is a predatory lending class of people who target 
this. So the point I want to say going forward is my hope is that 
we will make sure this legislation going forward has a major com-
ponent piece in it that is a serious financial literacy piece that is 
targeted at African Americans, it is targeted at the community that 
the predators targeted because if the financial services industry, 
and especially those dealing with mortgages and real estate, the 
banking communities, if you do not make sure of this, we may very 
well have to revert to an overreaching legislative piece. So I want 
to make this urge that we have it and that we have a toll free 
number in, that we have human beings at the end of the phone, 
that we have it structured as an infrastructure within the Treasury 
Department where we really take it serious, where we put money 
and resources into the grassroots community, into the AARPs, into 
the NAACP, into those groups that have the legitimacy, into the 
church community, where people who are being targeted listen to. 
And if we get nothing out but one message, before you sign on the 
dotted line, call this number, talk to somebody because if 
Bankrate.com is right in its survey, we have a major, major prob-
lem of a lack of a financial education and financial literacy for a 
hugely growing amount of people. 

Now with that said, my commercial for financial literacy being 
said, it concerns me that when Chairman Bernanke, head of the 
Fed, came before this committee a few weeks ago and was asked 
about this question, he used some very rarely used strong language 
from the Fed in regarding any aspect of the economy, he used the 
words ‘‘concern’’ and ‘‘unease,’’ and ‘‘very concerned’’ to describe his 
thoughts on the subprime lending situation. Now, as head of the 
central bank, these are words that are used, as I said, sparingly 
and very often never but do his words of concern and urgency cre-
ate additional concerns that this subprime meltdown will create 
broader credit crunch were the subprime problem spread to the 
prime mortgage industry and even further into corporate credit? 

Mr. HENSARLING. I thank the Chair. I think I heard earlier—say 
something along the lines that our mortgage markets are by and 
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large working today or at least perhaps roughly 85 percent of the 
market. Is that a correct assessment of what I heard earlier? 

I think at least I heard you, Mr. Reich, say that at least as of 
now in your opinion with respect to some of the subprime fore-
closure issues that are the focus of this hearing, that the market 
is essentially correcting itself. Is that correct? 

Mr. REICH. Well, I indicated that as a result perhaps of the guid-
ance that the regulators have issued, that liquidity has dried up, 
a number of lenders have exited the business. 

Mr. HENSARLING. Which I understand doesn’t help you if it’s your 
home that is actually on the list to be foreclosed. I am constantly 
reminded of an aspect of the Hippocratic oath, and that is, ‘‘First, 
do no harm.’’ 

Now for roughly 85 percent of the market it has worked well, 
and in some respects if the market is beginning to correct itself, I 
just want to make sure that as a Congress we do no harm, since 
we all are aware that we have the highest rate of homeownership 
that we’ve ever enjoyed in the Nation’s history. And at least some 
of that, I assume, is attributable to subprime lending and creative 
mortgage products. 

I want to ensure that we protect consumers from fraud. I want 
to ensure that we protect consumers from either misleading or inef-
fective disclosure, but I’m not really sure I want to protect con-
sumers, an informed consumer, from making a decision that may 
be a foolish decision because if I circumscribe his opportunities 
then I’m doing it for everybody else in the Nation. 

And I would like to follow up with some comments on the line 
of questioning from the gentleman from Georgia over here, Mr. 
Scott. We haven’t agreed a lot recently, but we certainly agree on 
this. And that is a lot of the disclosures that we see in these real 
estate transactions can be highly misleading using a jargon that 
many consumers do not understand. 

And I myself, my wife and I, closed on a condo here in Northern 
Virginia 2 years ago, and I signed a dizzying array of disclosure 
statements, none of which I understood. And believe it or not, I’m 
an informed lawyer, and if I don’t understand it, I’m not sure how 
anybody else is going to understand it. 

So my first question is, to whoever wants to take it, what can 
we do to make disclosure more effective, and in some cases isn’t 
less more? Whoever would care to take that one, that ball is up in 
the air. 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. I’ll take the first shot at that. Since we are the 
rule writers for the Truth in Lending Act, which controls the mort-
gage disclosures, it’s not everything—people often think that every-
thing you get at settlement comes out of Federal disclosure laws, 
and that’s not really true. There are really only a few pieces of 
paper that are involved with the Federal laws. The rest of it are 
other things. 

But we are engaged in an effort to look at all the mortgage dis-
closures that are required by the Truth in Lending Act and try to 
make them more understandable. We agree with you that they are 
not optimum at this time. We are planning to engage in consumer 
testing and focus groups. We have gotten away from the idea that 
used to exist in the olden days which was that lawyers sat around 

VerDate 0ct 09 2002 17:20 Jul 27, 2007 Jkt 035410 PO 00000 Frm 00047 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 K:\DOCS\35410.TXT HFIN PsN: TERRIE



40

in a room and developed consumer disclosures which ultimately, at 
the end of the day, the only people who understood them were 
other lawyers, and obviously not always even other lawyers. 

Mr. HENSARLING. Well, I commend the effort. I think it is a good 
one, and I think somehow simplicity of disclosure, more effective 
disclosure, what Mr. Scott was speaking of, more effective con-
sumer financial literacy is at least part of what it’s going to take 
to help remedy this situation. 

And I have another question, and that is listening to some people 
engaged in this debate we seem to be going down—in some re-
spects some people seem to be going down what I consider to be 
a slippery slope of only having the lender decide on the suitability 
of a credit product, and that if for some reason the lender chooses 
the wrong credit product then all of a sudden liability will attach 
to the lender. 

It seems to me that a lot of the major players in the market if 
that were true would simply become risk adverse and begin to exit 
this market. And then all of a sudden millions of Americans who 
would have had homeownership opportunities would be denied 
those opportunities. Do you agree with that assessment? 

And once again the ball is up in the air, since I only have time 
for one answer, I assume. Ms. Bair? 

Ms. BAIR. Well, I think borrowers should have the ability to 
repay. It’s an age old underwriting standard, and banks certainly 
are very familiar with underwriting to make sure that when you 
qualify a borrower for a loan, that borrower should have the ability 
to repay the loan. 

I don’t support a suitability standard. I think that’s a securities 
concept. I’m not sure it applies. I think it would be confusing and 
could create a lot of uncertaintly. If we’re talking about ability to 
repay, I think some people confuse the two. I do think we should 
have an ability to repay standard. That’s been around a long time. 
It’s just a commonsense standard. 

Mr. HENSARLING. Thank you. 
Chairman MALONEY. The gentleman’s time has expired. Emanuel 

Cleaver from Missouri. 
Mr. CLEAVER. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. Can I find out 

first of all those of you who agree—I’m following up on the ques-
tions and comments of my colleagues, Mr. Miller and Mr. Scott. So 
can I find out those of you who agree that there is in fact mar-
keting of subprime loans in African-American and low-income 
neighborhoods? Do all of you agree? Is there anyone who does not 
agree? 

What kind of action do you think we should take if we discover 
that there was advertisement going on in a particular neighbor-
hood for joggers to start running in a particular area of the city 
and if they were just given an avalanche of information, flyers 
about jogging in this area and when they jogged in the area they 
were mugged. Do you think that the free market system should 
allow us to continue to allow pamphlets to be distributed in this 
neighborhood about coming to another area where they would be 
mugged or whether something should be done? 

Actually, we’re talking about mugging here anyway, financial 
mugging, so I’m trying to figure out what you think should be done. 
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Did you understand the question? Did you understand the illustra-
tion about passing out leaflets in the neighborhood to get people to 
come jog in an area and they would be mugged when they get into 
the area? Is there anybody who doesn’t understand it? 

Ms. JOHNSON. Congressman, we believe that credit unions can 
actually do a very responsible job of subprime lending, separating 
subprime from predatory lending. There’s a need for subprime 
lending. And again I would say that something that would help 
would be allowing all credit unions to adopt underserved areas so 
that those consumers would have access to another traditional type 
of financial institution. 

Mr. CLEAVER. Okay. Why do you think the marketing is going on 
in African-American and low-income neighborhoods? 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. I think that oftentimes there is a perception 
that borrowers in those neighborhoods are more vulnerable and 
that this obviously was a way of generating income on the part of 
the people doing the marketing— 

Mr. CLEAVER. Mugging, mugging. 
Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. And I think that there are a couple of ways 

that we can address that. It’s difficult to stop people from mar-
keting in a neighborhood. However I think, as the Congressman 
from Georgia said, financial education is incredibly important for 
consumers, and we have also tried to encourage prime lenders to 
be more assertive in those neighborhoods. 

Mr. CLEAVER. Is there anyone who disagrees that there’s finan-
cial mugging going on directed toward particular neighborhoods? 

Mr. REICH. I don’t doubt that it may be occurring, and to the ex-
tent that it is a result of actions by insured institutions who are 
supervised by the regulatory agencies sitting at this table it will 
stop as a result of the proposed guidance, which is out, when that 
guidance becomes effective, when institutions are forced to make 
their loans based upon the abilities, the individual’s ability to 
repay the loan. 

Mr. CLEAVER. Would that include prepayment penalties that— 
Mr. REICH. We have addressed the subject of prepayment pen-

alties in the guidance also. 
Mr. CLEAVER. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. 
Chairman MALONEY. Congressman Campbell from California. 
Mr. CAMPBELL. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. I’ve listened to 

a lot of discussion about the difference between predatory and 
subprime, but what I wanted to talk about a little bit is the dif-
ferences between predatory and poor predatory practices and poor 
underwriting. 

The conditions which have caused this hearing to occur today, 
my perception is that what has been going on is much more attrib-
uted to just flat poor underwriting than it is to predatory practices. 
And part of the reason I would say that, and then I’ll ask you all 
to comment on whether you agree with that or disagree with that, 
one of the things we’ve heard a lot about is we have a number of 
these loans out here where the first payment hasn’t been made. 

Well, if the first payment hasn’t been made, that’s really bad un-
derwriting but almost certainly not predatory. In a lot of cases 
there’s bad underwriting but the people have a good interest rate 
and everything else. They just—nobody should have made them a 
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loan because they just weren’t in a position to pay it back. So do 
you agree that that’s really where the issues are? 

I’m not suggesting there’s no predator. I mean obviously I’m not 
suggesting that. I’m just suggesting that what there’s been a lot of 
lately that perhaps has occurred—gotten to the problem that we’re 
in. 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. I think it’s been a combination of lax under-
writing, and there also are instances, I’m sure, of predatory lend-
ing. I think it would be very difficult to separate and quantify how 
much of which was going on. 

Mr. CAMPBELL. But they are very distinctly different practices. I 
mean arguably predatory, the lender is taking advantage of a po-
tential borrower and making a lot of money on them. With bad un-
derwriting the lender is going to lose money because—if they make 
too many loans that people can’t pay back. 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. Well, no. I think there’s a lot more overlap 
than that because even with lax underwriting if there were initial 
fees up front the lender still is going to make something on the 
front end. So I think there’s a lot more overlap between predatory 
and just bad underwriting, and there’s probably some of both in 
this market. 

And as I said, I think it would be very difficult to separate it. 
Mr. CAMPBELL. Anybody else wish to comment on that? Yes. 
Ms. BAIR. You know, I think you’re right. There is a difference. 

I think we were focusing on predatory lending because it’s the sub-
ject of the hearing as indicated in the invitation letter. Getting 
back to mortgage fraud, too, another area that we address in the 
draft subprime guidance, these no-doc loans or low-doc loans 
which—and we say in the proposed guidance—in and of itself is not 
a mitigating risk factor. I think a lot of the early payment defaults, 
potential mortgage fraud, there is a correlation between no-doc, 
low-doc loans and these payment defaults. So that’s probably near 
where we’re talking more about poor, very poor underwriting 
versus something—there may not be a balloon at the other end 
that we need to be concerned about—but there still is a problem 
with the underwriting. 

Mr. CAMPBELL. Anybody else wish to comment on that? No? 
Okay then one of my concerns on this, Chairman Bernanke of 

the Federal Reserve, when he was here, was indicating that one of 
the—I think he indicated that the greatest risk factor to recession 
this year was if housing were to take a hard fall. 

The object of what we’re doing here, I hope, is to solidify 
subprime mortgage lending and not dry it up because if we dry it 
up, I think we could potentially put a bunch of houses on the mar-
ket, take a bunch of buyers out of the market, and potentially cre-
ate something that drastically hurts the economy. 

Another figure that’s been out there lately has been, I think, the 
13.7 or 13.8 percent, something like that, of subprime loans which 
are currently behind in payments. I frankly can’t recall whether it’s 
30 days, 60 days, or 90 days. 

If that’s the case though, it does mean that 86 percent of these 
people with—it wouldn’t be subprime if the credit weren’t mar-
ginal. So it does mean that 86 percent of these people with mar-
ginal credit because of the subprime market have been able to buy 
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homes whereas without the subprime market they wouldn’t. Any 
comments on the loan—because obviously in a subprime you’re 
going to have a higher loan default ratio than you are in a prime 
market or in the A-whatever-it-is market that’s in the middle. 

Any comments on whether that—it’s obviously higher than it 
was, but is it way too high on a historic basis? 

Ms. BAIR. Well, it is high. Historically, they have been higher, 
but we’re seeing a strong correlation between payment resets and 
home price depreciation in areas with these default rates. And the 
adjustable rate products have significantly higher delinquency 
rates than the fixed rate products. 

The problem is to help people restructure into a product that 
they can afford. One thing we’ve been looking at is whether we can 
transition borrowers into fixed mortgages, and that might be the 
silver lining in all of this. We’ve been doing analysis of the rate 
sheets of the major subprime lenders. The rate for their 30-year 
fixed is actually only 40 to 50 basis points higher than the starter 
rate on the 2/28 which a lot of these people are in. 

So we’re thinking that if you can qualify borrowers for a 2-year 
starter rate, you can qualify them for a 30-year fixed. And we’re 
hoping that perhaps as these interest rates reset, and people have 
to refinance, we can get more people into 30-year fixed that would 
not have the payment shock. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Time has expired. There have been a 
number of issues raised about targeting vulnerable borrowers and 
I wanted to note that the subcommittee will be having hearings on 
this particular subject. The Chair recognizes Congressman Ellison 
of Minnesota. 

Mr. ELLISON. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. I wonder if, Ms. 
Bair, you could comment on how the clustering of a number of fore-
closures that come about in connection with subprime loans im-
pacts a neighborhood. 

Ms. BAIR. Well, it could have a very negative impact on neighbor-
hoods. I mean this is as I indicated in my statement, one of the 
reasons we support and endorse and promote homeownership and 
welcome it and subsidize it. I support all of this is because one of 
the many social benefits is that it stabilizes neighborhoods. 

If you have a series of people in a situation that their homes are 
going to be foreclosed, and they are in danger of losing their homes, 
that’s a tremendous stress not only just on the family but on the 
neighborhood as well. 

Mr. ELLISON. Does it have any other kind of spillover effects be-
yond just the physical reality of foreclosure? I mean what happens 
to these homes? Are they bought by other homeowners? Are they 
bought up by people who can buy them cheaply? 

Ms. BAIR. I think the first choice is always to try to keep people 
in their homes, to try to undertake loss mitigation techniques to re-
structure the loan to keep them there. 

Yes, there are adverse economic effects as well. If we have a lot 
of foreclosures and a lot of housing stock going on the market, that 
could further depress a market that’s softening in a lot of areas al-
ready. 

Mr. ELLISON. Now what about those—I mean I’m glad that you 
pointed out that you try to get the bank to redo the loan with the 
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borrower, but is that always possible? I mean what if the bank has 
sold that loan? Can they go back to the same bank where they got 
it? 

Ms. BAIR. That is a problem. We’re having a roundtable on April 
16th with the representatives of firms that securitize these loans 
because there may be some issues about whether the terms of the 
securitization agreements may inhibit the ability to restructure. 
That’s a key area that we’re going to be looking into at this round-
table, so I don’t have a good answer for you right now. 

Mr. ELLISON. So for example if somebody—if a bank were to have 
sold that loan and it got bundled up and packaged with a bunch 
of other loans who then does the borrower go to and try to—is it— 

Ms. BAIR. They would go to whoever is servicing the loan at that 
point. That would be the firm, the entity that would be getting the 
restructuring. But again, whether the servicer has the latitude to 
restructure the loan under the securitization agreement is what we 
need to deal with and we don’t have a good answer. We think there 
is significant latitude, but that’s one of the things we want to get 
into at our roundtable. 

Mr. ELLISON. Another question I wanted to ask you, and it goes 
back to the gentleman who was asking a few questions before, just 
in terms of how people make money on these loans, if it’s a broker, 
isn’t it the case that they already have an incentive to make sure 
that the borrower is going to be able to pay the loans because once 
they do the deal they get their money and they’re out? Is that 
right? 

So the question of whether it’s bad underwriting or good under-
writing or the quality of the underwriting, from a broker’s stand-
point, once the deal is done and their fees are paid it really doesn’t 
matter whether it’s a well underwritten loan or not. Am I right or 
wrong? 

Ms. BAIR. Well, I think there are a lot of really good mortgage 
brokers out there who don’t want to— 

Mr. ELLISON. And I’m not trying to disparage mortgage brokers. 
Ms. BAIR. And I think the reputable mortgage brokers do worry 

about whether their loans perform in terms of maintaining a rela-
tionship with lenders. But there are—as Commissioner Antonakes 
has pointed out and others on this subcommittee—significant prob-
lems with the conduct of some mortgage brokers. In that case, they 
are just trying to make a quick buck. You’re right. 

Mr. ELLISON. Yes, and I guess whenever you ask a question 
there are the connotations of the question, and people try to control 
for those so they don’t put anybody down, but leaving all the nice 
stuff aside, after the mortgage broker does the deal they’re going 
to be the most reputable person on the Earth, but they have com-
pleted their work— 

Ms. BAIR. No, they are not on the hook for that. 
Mr. ELLISON. Right. Let’s just talk about the loan officer a little 

bit. After the loan officer has—let’s say they’re the one who did the 
deal. After that loan is sold, they’ve made the money they’re going 
to make out of it and they’re done; am I right? 

Ms. BAIR. Yes. 
Mr. ELLISON. So when it comes down to whether or not—so there 

really is a more serious problem than just whether—I mean they 
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actually—in some ways there is an incentive to have loans under-
written in a way that facilitates the doing of the deal but not nec-
essarily the paying of the mortgage. 

Ms. BAIR. I hate to qualify, but I really do feel like I need to. I 
think lenders, responsible lenders, do worry about their reputations 
and their relationships with those who acquire their mortgages to 
keep this pipeline open. So I do think there’s some reputational 
risk that serves as an incentive to have well performing assets. 

That said— 
Mr. ELLISON. Ms. Bair, it sounds like you’re saying that I’m 

wrong and that— 
Ms. BAIR. You’re not wrong. 
Mr. ELLISON. Okay. 
Ms. BAIR. There’s no doubt that securitization has had an impact 

on the loosened underwriting standards we’ve seen by lenders. 
There’s no doubt about it. 

Mr. ELLISON. Thank you. So the answer is yes. There is an incen-
tive— 

Chairwoman MALONEY. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Thank you. 

Mr. ELLISON. 30 seconds? 
Chairwoman MALONEY. We’re running out of time. We have two 

more speakers, Joe Baca of California and Al Green of Texas, and 
then we have to conclude this first panel so that we have time for 
the second panel. 

As I said in my opening remarks, we have a time limit on the 
amount of time we can be in this room and we need to have time 
for our second panel. 

Joe Baca of California. 
Mr. BACA. Thank you very much, Madam Chairwoman. Thank 

you very much for having this hearing. I think it’s very important 
to a lot of us, especially what’s going on nationwide. 

We realize the impact that it has on the poor and the disadvan-
taged, especially as it pertains to African Americans and Hispanics, 
so we appreciate having the hearing, and I appreciate the gentle-
man’s question right now, and I wanted just to follow up a little 
bit with it. 

Is there a list of those who abuse the system right now, and 
maybe when we talk about an educational process that needs to be 
done, whether it’s financial institutions, financial education? What 
we need to do though is those mortgage brokers that are abusing 
this system, we need to put out a list of those individuals so we 
can begin to educate our communities—these are the bad lenders 
out here that are abusing the system, that are taking advantage 
of the poor, the disadvantaged and others who are just out to make 
a profit and they don’t care about the individual in terms of the 
loans. That needs to be done, so I appreciate that. 

But I want to get back to a specific question. And I want to know 
the impact of subprime lending on Latino homeowners. What con-
trol will be put in place to protect consumers from predatory prac-
tices and especially how will you ensure that the exorbitant fees 
and rates associated with subprime practices will not occur with fu-
ture borrowers? 
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That is question number one. Any one of you can answer that, 
or Ms. Braunstein, would you please tackle that? 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. Well, that was one of the reasons that we have 
issued the proposed subprime lending guidance was to address 
some of those issues about borrowers and hopefully—I think that 
guidance is already taking effect in the marketplace and will con-
tinue to. 

Mr. BACA. But how are we holding them accountable and what 
oversights are we doing on those individuals who continue to still 
give out the loans? So there has to be some accountability for those 
that continue to prey on the poor, the disadvantaged, especially 
when I look at Inland Empire, where I come from, there’s a high 
number of foreclosures and defaults in my area. So we’re not hold-
ing those individuals accountable yet we have people that are los-
ing their homes. And this is for the very first time that they’ve 
bought a home, they maintain a home but they have some bad ad-
vice because someone wanted to take advantage. 

Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. Most of the bad actors to which you refer are 
not in the depository institutions, which is who we regulate and su-
pervise. If we find that there are practices that are illegal or fraud-
ulent in our institutions we do take action, however a number of 
the actors in the market that we’ve just talked about are not being 
supervised directly by anybody. 

Mr. BACA. Who’s responsible for supervising them? 
Ms. BRAUNSTEIN. Pretty much the States. 
Mr. BACA. And why aren’t they? 
Mr. ANTONAKES. Well, I beg to differ with my colleague in terms 

of them not being supervised. They are being supervised. And our 
database— 

Mr. BACA. If somebody is making the statement that they’re not 
supervised, then there is a concern right here, and that’s affecting 
us in our communities. If somebody is saying that the State isn’t 
doing it and yet when you look at the foreclosures in each of the 
areas and its impact—and specifically when it has—and I’m con-
cerned from the Hispanic perspective, the foreclosures and people 
that are losing their homes right now. 

Something needs to be done. There has to be the accountability. 
There has to be that oversight. 

Mr. ANTONAKES. I agree completely, Congressman. And I would 
only add that broker supervision largely falls to the States. 
Through our database we will have a collection of public enforce-
ment actions against brokers. I would also add however that cer-
tainly the securitization of loans has created incentives for prudent 
underwriting standards to become lax and for brokers to push 
through loans. 

However those loans can only be pushed through if they’re fund-
ed by someone, if there’s a product available. The broker can’t do 
that on their own. And that is done through other firms, lenders 
and national institutions and also provided by direct financing from 
companies from Wall Street. 

I would suggest—and we’ve done it in my State in Massachusetts 
many years ago—that if a bank has lines of credit with either a 
lender that is pushing through predatory loans or loans that aren’t 
underwritten appropriately that the national regulator through the 
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COA authority has a responsibility to take that into account, those 
practices. If they know that they’re doing business with inappro-
priate lenders, then they should take action. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. The gentleman’s time has expired. Mr. 
Green from Texas. 

Mr. GREEN. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman, and I thank each 
of the witnesses for appearing today. In one of our great documents 
we connote, indicate if you will that all persons are created equal. 
Apparently something happens between creation and loan acquisi-
tion because for whatever reasons we are finding that invidious 
predatory lending impacts some ethnic groups more than others 
and the question really is what will we do about it. 

But before going to the question, let me just mention testing. 
Every time, every single time we have employed testing we have 
found that invidious discrimination exists, every single time. Given 
that we know that it exists, what have we been doing to combat 
it in terms of prosecuting persons? Can anyone comment, please? 

Ms. BAIR. Again, we only regulate depository institutions, state-
chartered depository institutions, in the FDIC’s case. We identify 
outliers based on the HMDA data. We do very vigorous compliance 
reviews of the banks that are shown to be outliers under the 
HMDA data. We’ve referred cases already where we’ve identified a 
pattern or practice of discrimination to the Justice Department for 
prosecution, so we take it very seriously and we very vigorously ex-
amine for it. 

Mr. GREEN. How many cases have been prosecuted by the Justice 
Department in the last year? 

Ms. BAIR. That I wouldn’t know. We could try to find out for you. 
Mr. GREEN. Anyone have any information? Do you know how 

many within the last 5 years? 
Ms. BAIR. We could contact the civil rights division of the Justice 

Department. No, we don’t. I don’t know off the top of my head, but 
we could try to find the information for you. 

You’re interested in financial services areas, yes? 
Mr. GREEN. Yes, I’m interested in knowing what we actually are 

doing, given that we have empirical data to suggest that certain 
things are occurring. 

Ms. BAIR. Right. 
Mr. GREEN. What are we actually doing about it? 
Ms. BAIR. Well, the availability of HMDA data, to the level of de-

tail we currently have, is relatively recent. We just began getting 
this level of detail last year, so our ability to use this as a tool is 
a fairly recent vintage. 

Mr. GREEN. Let me move on to something else. We have a num-
ber of families who will lose their homes and as a result they will 
have credit problems. What are we doing to give them an oppor-
tunity? Assume that you are foreclosed on, what are we doing to 
give them an opportunity to reenter the credit market and have an-
other opportunity to own a home given that we know that we have 
a circumstance with the housing prices falling and with a lot of 
these loans being subprime? What are we doing to give them an 
opportunity to get back into the housing market? 

Mr. REICH. Well, to the extent that these families are in homes, 
the mortgages are held by the depository institutions that we regu-
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lators regulate, we are encouraging the institutions to work with 
these families prior to the foreclosure completion to forestall a fore-
closure or to try to prevent a foreclosure from taking effect. 

Mr. GREEN. After foreclosure, what are we doing? We have lit-
erally, my suspicion is, millions of persons who will find themselves 
losing their homes, and we want to give them an opportunity to get 
back into the market. 

Let me go to the next question. What about the cost of this? 
What is it going to cost in terms of dollars with all of the fore-
closures? What will be the amount of money that the marketplace 
will lose due to the foreclosures? Anyone know? 

Mr. REICH. It’s difficult to project. 
Mr. GREEN. Is it billions? 
Ms. BAIR. I think there is a recent study, it’s not a government 

study, that estimated—I think it was about $140 billion over the 
next 6 years. 

Mr. GREEN. $120 billion? 
Ms. BAIR. $140 billion. 
Mr. GREEN. Total? 
Ms. BAIR. Over the next 6 years. We can get you a copy of the 

study. I’m going off the top of my head, but I think that was the 
ballpark about what they—that is one private sector study. 

Mr. GREEN. If we bonded many of these persons who are going 
to be foreclosed on, would they—with a better interest rate would 
they be able to stay in the marketplace and maintain their homes? 
Anyone? 

As some States are doing, bonding? 
Ms. BAIR. Sir, I’m sorry. I should not have spoken off the top of 

my head. Over 6 or 7 years—would result in loses of about $112 
billion. It’s 143,000 foreclosures every year over the next 6 years. 

Mr. GREEN. Here’s my closing comment, Madam Chairwoman, 
and thank you. We are spending about $333 million a day on the 
war. We seem to find the money to cure the ills that we deem to 
be a priority. It seems to me that we ought to do more to find a 
way to help people maintain their homes given that we know that 
some of the circumstances that are causing them to lose their 
homes are somewhat shady, and that’s being kind. I think we need 
to do more, and I yield back the balance of my time. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. That’s a good point to end on, and we are 
out of time. I would like to follow up on the point that the gen-
tleman made on enforcement or the lack thereof. And I would like 
to ask a question. My time has expired, so if you would, get back 
to me in writing. 

If the guidance were made for the whole market, who would en-
force that for each of the different sectors? The Truth In Lending 
enforcement plan would give the FTC enforcement authority over 
a large part of the market, but as several of you have testified the 
examination powers of the Federal banking regulators are impor-
tant. So your comments—if you could, get back to us in writing on 
how we would make the enforcement go forward. And I would just 
like to end with that point that many of you made that the bankers 
will not be selling these loans if lenders don’t make them. 
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And going back to the guidance, which basically says that you do 
not make loans to people who cannot afford it, would in many ways 
adjust and correct this market. 

I would like to say that the Chair notes that some members may 
have additional questions for this panel, which they may want to 
submit in writing. And without objection, the hearing record will 
remain open for 30 days for members to submit written questions 
to these witnesses and to place their responses in the record. 

I want to thank you for your testimony today and for your atten-
tion to this very pressing problem. Thank you very much. 

[Recess] 
Chairwoman MALONEY. The subcommittee will come to order. We 

have a limited amount of time remaining to us. Our second panel 
this afternoon consists of several distinguished members as well. 
We have: Michael Calhoun, president of the Center for Responsible 
Lending; Josh Silver, vice president of research and policy for the 
National Community Reinvestment Coalition; Allen Fishbein, di-
rector of housing and credit policy for the Consumer Federation of 
America; John Robbins, chairman of the Mortgage Bankers Asso-
ciation; Harry H. Dinham, CMC, president of the National Associa-
tion of Mortgage Brokers; and Mr. Alex Pollock, resident fellow, 
from the American Enterprise Institute. And without objection, the 
witnesses’ written statements will be made part of the record. You 
will each be recognized for a 5-minute summary of your testimony. 
The Chair now recognizes Mr. Calhoun for 5 minutes. 

STATEMENT OF MICHAEL D. CALHOUN, PRESIDENT, CENTER 
FOR RESPONSIBLE LENDING 

Mr. CALHOUN. Thank you Madam Chairwoman, Ranking Mem-
ber Gillmor, and members of the committee, for the opportunity to 
speak to you today about the causes, the impact, and most impor-
tantly the reforms necessary to address the foreclosure crisis seen 
today in the subprime market. First, I think it’s important to look 
at what the typical subprime loan today is like, and when you do 
that, you will quickly see a lot of the origins of our problems. 

The typical subprime loan today has a built-in payment shock of 
40 to 50 percent, even if market rates do not increase. For example, 
a typical subprime loan starts at 71⁄2 to 8 percent, and when it re-
adjusts as you have heard about today, it will jump to nearly 12 
percent again, even when market rates do not change. That same 
loan typically has no escrows for taxes or insurance, making them 
due in a lump sum, which further stresses the borrower. It’s based 
on undocumented income and it typically comes with a prepayment 
penalty that most borrowers end up paying. As a result of that, our 
research shows that over 2 million borrowers in the subprime mar-
ket will lose their homes. 

And it is important to put that in context, as people have said 
today. Subprime loans make up less than one-sixth of the overall 
mortgage market, yet they are producing almost two-thirds of all 
foreclosures in the entire mortgage market today. We have done 
further research which is set out in detail on page 13 of my testi-
mony, that shows the macro impact of this on homeownership. 
Going back over a 9-year period, it shows that the net impact is 
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almost a million more families lose their homes as a result of 
subprime lending than are to homes as first-time homebuyers. 

That’s driven by two pieces of data. As Representative Miller 
noted, a very small percentage of subprime loans are in fact first 
time homebuyer loans. And then second, you have these very high 
levels of foreclosures. You put those together and you have the fact 
that today the subprime market has been a destroyer not a creator 
of homeownership for American families. As Chairwoman Bair 
noted, that’s not only tragic, it’s unnecessary. As she pointed out, 
a subprime borrower can receive a standard 30-year fixed rate 
mortgage at a lower rate and lower monthly payment than they 
would receive one of these 2/28 TSR arms with a built-in payment 
shock. But market dynamics make it more profitable for partici-
pants in the mortgage market to give them that much riskier loan. 
What reforms are needed? 

First of all, of course, the guidance that we talked about should 
be implemented. There are major attempts though of push-back by 
some lenders who openly criticize that guidance, and that must be 
fought off. Second, the HOEPA Authority under the Fed; the re-
sponsibilities of the GSEs to meet the standards must be followed. 
Families in foreclosure also need help with workouts. FHA, which 
I think you will address soon, will play a major role. 

There also are two legal impediments for these families now that 
I urge you to investigate. First the tax code often makes loan for-
giveness taxable to the borrowers, so even if they are able to get 
loan forgiveness, they can still get a notice from the IRS saying 
that they owe tens of thousands of dollars in additional taxes. Sec-
ond, the Bankruptcy Code is presently stacked against home-
owners, making it almost impossible for them to modify and get re-
lief when they are behind on their mortgage. 

Finally, there needs to be action on a national bill for sustainable 
home lending. At the top of that list needs to be addressed the 
broker role, which is being addressed today. First, under current 
law, brokers are generally allowed to disclaim any duty to the bor-
rower. It needs to be affirmatively established that they have a fi-
duciary duty to the borrower. Second, today, brokers are even al-
lowed to receive bonuses for putting borrowers in higher interest 
loans than they qualify for. That should stop, most importantly for 
enforcement. Lenders need to be held responsible for the acts of 
brokers. That’s the self-enforcing market mechanism that’s been 
needed. 

There’s been talk here of education. Let me suggest—we don’t 
tell purchaser’s of insurance policies to go educate themselves by 
reading insurance books to make sure that their insurer doesn’t go 
out of business. It is much the same in the mortgage market. There 
need to be substantive standards. Education has a role, but it won’t 
be the only solution. 

Finally, there needs to be flexibility. It was indicated today that 
the 1999 North Carolina Mortgage Predatory Lending law did not 
address a lot of the practices that we see today that developed in 
only the last couple of years. I think you will see further action by 
North Carolina in this legislative session. 

Thank you for this opportunity to share our comments. 
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[The prepared statement of Mr. Calhoun can be found on page 
288 of the appendix.] 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Thank you very much. 
The Chair now recognizes Mr. Silver. 

STATEMENT OF JOSH SILVER, VICE PRESIDENT OF RE-
SEARCH AND POLICY, NATIONAL COMMUNITY REINVEST-
MENT COALITION 

Mr. SILVER. Chairwoman Maloney, Ranking Member Gillmor, it 
is an honor to be here today as a voice for the over 600 community 
organizations that comprise the National Community Reinvestment 
Coalition. NCRC is the Nation’s economic justice trade association 
dedicated to increasing access to fairly priced credit and capital for 
minority and working class families. We stand on the precipice of 
a mortgage tsunami in the United States. 

According to the FDIC, interest rates are due to rise for bor-
rowers of one million subprime loans in 2007, and another 800,000 
borrowers in 2008. In numerous cases, unsuspecting borrowers dis-
cover that the introductory TSR rates on subprime ARM loans have 
expired and are replaced by unaffordable monthly payments. More 
than 14 percent of outstanding subprime loans were delinquent by 
the end of 2006, 

The final regulatory guidance on non-traditional mortgages and 
the proposed guidance or subprime arm loans are necessary but not 
sufficient to save us from hundreds of thousands of foreclosures. 
The guidance requires lending institutions to assess borrower ca-
pacity to repay at the fully indexed rate, not the TSR rate. The 
sound underwriting in the proposed guidance should eliminate 
many of the abuses in the unsafe and interceptive ARM subprime 
lending. Yet, the guidance does not come close to providing com-
prehensive coverage. It applies to about half of the subprime lend-
ing, which is conducted by banks, thrifts and their affiliates. It 
does not cover prime ARM lending, which can also be problematic 
when TSR rates are low and when the APR is in the upper ranges 
of prime pricing. The guidance also cannot directly cover non-bank-
ing institutions, including brokers, appraisers, closing agents, 
securitizers, and services, all of whom contain abusive actors per-
petuating and enabling dangerous lending. 

While the regulatory guidance is a good start, Congress needs to 
pass a comprehensive anti-predatory lending bill. You will hear in-
dustry representatives insist that policymakers should not over-
react and, therefore, choke off lending and the American dream of 
homeownership. These assertions, however, fail to recognize that 
lending markets are broken, as Representative Ellison was trying 
to draw out. The problem is there is a lack of financial incentives 
for the actors, brokers, and securitizers and several other actors to 
behave responsively. 

NCRC’s experience and research demonstrate that the broken 
marketplace needs a major fix in order to avoid the tsunami. 
NCRC operates a foreclosure prevention program called the Con-
sumer Rescue Fund and engages in mystery shopping on a national 
level. In my written testimony, I describe a number of Rescue Fund 
cases in which borrowers of subprime ARM loans experience mul-
tiple abuses committed by appraisers, brokers, loan officers, and 
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servicers. Tragically, NCRC has reaffirmed that these over-
whelming abuses are disproportionately experienced by minorities 
and hard-working Americans—the very same families that industry 
trade associations want to protect from more regulation and con-
sumer protection. 

We conducted national level mystery shopping of subprime mort-
gage companies and brokers in several metropolitan areas. We 
armed our minority mystery shoppers with better qualifications. 

Yet, they consistently received less service, higher subprime 
rates, and fewer loan options than white shoppers. When we com-
bined credit within this data, it withheld the data. We found that 
the portion of subprime lending was higher as a portion of minori-
ties and the elderly was higher enablements in several large metro-
politan areas. CRL and Federal Reserve economists have found the 
same things. The lending marketplace is broken and the victims 
are disproportionately minorities, the working class, and the elder-
ly. 

So, I conclude with three major policy recommendations. Con-
gress must swiftly pass a strong comprehensive anti-predatory 
lending bill. The abuses are too pervasive and cut across too many 
actors in the industry to be tackled successfully by regulatory guid-
ance. Second, Congress must pass the CRA Modernization Act of 
2007, H.R. 1289. The Federal Reserve has found that CRA encour-
ages banks to make more prime loans, thus, CRA acts to increase 
product choice in working class and minority neighborhoods. 

CRA also provides fair lending reviews, checking for abusive 
lending. CRA must be applied to all bank affiliates, large credit 
unions, and independent mortgage companies. Recently, NCRC 
called on the Administration and Congress to re-till the FHA pro-
gram so they could offer rescue refinance loans to victims of preda-
tory lending. In addition, Congress should consider a national fore-
closure fund to offer remediation for families experiencing fore-
closure through no fault of their own. 

It is time to put American families first. Hundreds of families 
and children are losing their homes every day due to predatory 
lending. That is not a marketplace that is working. Haven’t we de-
regulated enough? It is time to end the suffering and save the 
American dream of homeownership by passing a strong national 
anti-predatory lending bill. 

Thank you so much. 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Silver can be found on page 315 

of the appendix.] 
Chairwoman MALONEY. Thank you so much. 
Mr. Fishbein? 

STATEMENT OF ALLEN FISHBEIN, DIRECTOR OF HOUSING 
AND CREDIT POLICY, CONSUMER FEDERATION OF AMERICA 

Mr. FISHBEIN. Chairwoman Maloney, Ranking Member Gillmor, 
and members of the subcommittee, it is a pleasure to be here today 
to testify on behalf of the Consumer Federation of America. And, 
we congratulate you for holding these hearings, which are coming 
at the timeliest of times. 

CFA is a national federation of some 300 pro-consumer organiza-
tions established in 1968 to engage in research, public education, 
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and advocacy in support of the interest of consumers. The goal of 
advancing sustainable homeownership is an important one for CFA 
and its members. Homeownership can have many benefits, not the 
least of which is the opportunity it provides to build personal 
wealth. But these advantages are being eroded by the mass mar-
keting of high risk non-traditional mortgage products to many con-
sumers for whom they are not appropriate. What these loan prod-
ucts have in common is that they trade lower initial monthly pay-
ments for higher payments later that can escalate dramatically, 
making these loans unaffordable for unsuspecting borrowers. 

The abandonment in recent years by many lenders of careful un-
derwriting based on the borrower’s ability to repay without refi-
nancing or selling their home has made these loans even riskier. 
Of particular concern are the high adjustable rate mortgage prod-
ucts that Mr. Calhoun and others have spoken about that became 
the predominant product in the subprime market. Until about a 
year ago, rising home prices and relatively low interest rates made 
it possible for borrowers to refinance or sell their homes after the 
initial period ended, or if they ran into trouble making payments. 
This masked the fact the fact that many lenders were qualifying 
borrowers based on the loans start rate, when home price apprecia-
tion leveled off as it did last year, delinquencies and defaults took 
off rising to the highest level in a decade. 

Delinquencies usually rise when the housing market slumps be-
cause borrowers are more likely to encounter difficulties in selling 
their homes. In addition, if the prices fall, borrowers may find 
themselves without the necessary equity to refinance it to a more 
affordable loan. And this is why we are seeing this problem mush-
rooming right in front of our eyes. The widespread use of exploding 
payment ARMs, and other payment deferred, non-traditional mort-
gage products points to a fundamental concern about whether con-
sumers really understand just how much their monthly payments 
can jump with these and other risky products. 

In my written testimony, we discuss several examples of research 
indicating that many consumers do not understand these terms. 
CFA believes, therefore, that it is an opportune time to examine 
the efficiency of steps that have been taken and whether additional 
action is warranted. We also believe that more focus should be di-
rected at financial institutions, investors, government, and the non-
profit sector to find creative solutions for keeping at-risk families—
who have been victimized by lax underwriting—in their homes. In 
my written testimony, we summarize three areas of particular at-
tention and I would like to just highlight them. 

First, the lack of accountability for key actors in the marketplace. 
Risk to consumers is vastly different today than risk to the indus-
try. Lender’s today can shield themselves from the full potential 
impact of foreclosures by selling their loans to investors through 
mortgage securities. In effect, higher foreclosure rates have become 
the cost of doing business. This presents risk for individual home 
borrowers who cannot insulate themselves the same way against 
this higher risk. 

Mortgage brokers who originate the majority of subprime loans 
have an incentive to close as many loans as possible and a very 
good reason not to consider the loan’s future performance. The lack 
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of effective oversight and consumer protections, both the front and 
back ends of the subprime market, are contributors to the problem 
we are witnessing today. 

And we have one suggestion for one of your future hearings and 
that is to invite the Securities and Exchange Commission to be 
here and talk about what they think are the nature of some of the 
problems in the marketplace, and whether current regulations that 
they oversee are adequate. 

Two, the Federal Banking Agency guidance, while it is helpful 
and will help correct some of the abuses in the marketplace, is not 
enough. Additional steps are needed. Finalizing the proposed 
subprime statement that was issued by the regulators on March 
8th would help to restore sound underwriting for subprime loans. 
We support its quick adoption. I would also like to offer a letter 
from some 70 organizations, written to the regulators on February 
21st asking for the issuance of guidance along these lines. 

At the same time, we recognize that there are important limita-
tions to this policy guidance and it will take a long time to be fully 
implemented. Thus, we support the need for a comprehensive re-
writing of consumer protection laws, which we feel need to be up-
dated. 

Thank you. 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Fishbein can be found on page 

346 of the appendix.] 
Chairwoman MALONEY. Thank you so much, and we are consid-

ering having a hearing along those lines. 
Mr. Robbins. 

STATEMENT OF JOHN M. ROBBINS, CHAIRMAN, MORTGAGE 
BANKERS ASSOCIATION 

Mr. ROBBINS. Thank you for the opportunity to speak about an 
issue that has captured the attention of this committee and the fi-
nancial services industry. As Mortgage Banker’s Association statis-
tics show, delinquencies and foreclosures have risen over the past 
6 months, particularly in the subprime market. In response, regu-
lators have established new standards. Investors have punished 
companies that made bad loans, and I am here today to answer 
your questions about the effect it is having on consumers. 

I believe MBA’s data in a written statement is both objective and 
comprehensive, and I am confident that it is the most authoritative 
in its data because it includes 86 percent of all outstanding mort-
gages. Economics aside, I want to talk today from the heart as 
someone with 36 years of mortgage experience, and what I have 
seen of late troubles me deeply. Responsible lenders only extend 
credit to borrowers who are willing and able to make mortgage 
payments. They do not trick borrowers into loans that are 
unsustainable and they do not hold on something that is only a mi-
rage of the American dream. 

I have conducted my professional life according to these stand-
ards as has nearly every member of the Mortgage Bankers Associa-
tion. Yet, bad loans were made. They were not made responsibly 
or with the best interest of the consumer in mind. For the most 
part, those making these poor loans have been punished by Wall 
Street and restrained by regulators, and while we must ask what 
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lessons we should learn from these mistakes, it is equally impor-
tant for those in positions of authority to help current homeowners 
stay in their homes. 

Working together, I suggest that we accomplish three things: sta-
bilize the subprime mortgage credit system; provide assistance for 
homeowners facing foreclosure; and, finally, prevent this from ever 
happening again. First, reaction from investors has been swift. Al-
ready, more than 20 subprime lenders have closed their doors. As 
we watch this, we must remind people not to confuse subprime 
with predatory, and, we must reiterate that while subprime fore-
closures are high, at 41⁄2 percent, currently they remain below their 
historic peak of 10 percent. A sound perspective and a prudent reg-
ulatory hand will seize investors, calm editorial writers, and most 
importantly, help consumers. 

Second, for subprime borrowers who are facing foreclosure, in-
dustry and policymakers must partner to help provide options so 
that as many as possible are able to retain their homes. Chairman 
Dodd recently called for a summit of all parties to address this 
problem. MBA embraces that idea. Further, we at MBA strongly 
encourage all borrowers who find themselves unable to make pay-
ments to contact their lender immediately. Lenders lose money on 
foreclosures—in my company, it was $40,999 for each one—and so 
they have have a strong desire to make any number of arrange-
ments that would allow a borrower to start making payments again 
and keep his or her home. 

Third, lawmakers, regulators, and industry must work to ensure 
that this situation does not occur in the future. Borrowers are 
smart. When given good information, they make good decisions, but 
they make poor decisions when they have bad information. And, 
absence of pricing transparency coupled with the daunting and 
complicated closing process has permitted certain actors to prey on 
the unsophisticated. But frankly, every person from subprime to 
jumbo borrower is susceptible when even the chief executive officer 
of FNMA and the Secretary of HUD by their own admission cannot 
understand all the documents at a mortgage closing. 

The mortgage market is desperate for a rewrite of the Nation’s 
settlement laws and a strong uniform lending standard to trap 
predators and bring them to justice. I stand ready to meet with 
each member of the financial services committees to discuss what 
MBA will do to work to accomplish these goals. Together, we can 
ensure that predatory lenders don’t foreclose on the American 
dream. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Robbins can be found on page 
360 of the appendix.] 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Mr. Dinham. 

STATEMENT OF HARRY H. DINHAM, CMC, PRESIDENT, 
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MORTGAGE BROKERS 

Mr. DINHAM. Good afternoon Chairwoman Maloney, Ranking 
Member Gillmor, and members of the committee. I am Harry 
Dinham, president of the National Association of Mortgage Bro-
kers. NAMB is committed to preserving the vitality of our cities 
and the goal of homeownership. We commend the subcommittee for 
holding this hearing. NAMB is the only trade association devoted 
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to representing the mortgage broker industry. Mortgage brokers 
must comply with a number of State and Federal laws and regula-
tions. We are subject to the oversight of not only State agencies, 
but also HUD, the FTC, and to a certain extent, the Federal Re-
serve Board. 

First, let me say, it is a tragedy for any family to lose their home 
to foreclosure. No one disputes this. Foreclosure hurts not only the 
family, but the neighborhood and surrounding communities. As 
small business brokers, we live, eat, shop, and raise our families 
in these communities. When consumers’ properties decline, our 
property values decline. When consumers’ neighborhoods become 
unstable and prone to violence, our neighborhoods become unstable 
and prone to violence. More than any other channel, brokers live 
by the motto: Once a customer, a customer for life. What happens 
in our neighborhoods and in our communities hurts all of us. Mort-
gage brokers do care. We believe everyone from Wall Street to 
mortgage originators should work together to develop and imple-
ment appropriate solutions. At the same time, we must remember 
that today America enjoys an all-time record rate of homeowner-
ship, almost 70 percent. 

The challenge we face now is how do we help people avoid fore-
closure, and at the same time ensure that they have continued ac-
cess to credit. We realize that a number of recent reports have fo-
cused on the rise in home foreclosures. The truth is that we can 
only speculate on the causes responsible for the rise in home fore-
closures. There are a number of possible factors: bankruptcy re-
form, minimum wage gains, credit card debt, decreased savings 
rate, decreasing home values, second homes, fraud, illness, and 
other life events, to name just a few. 

Do not rush to judgment before we have all the facts. We under-
stand that Congress will be calling for a GAO study on the causes 
of foreclosure. We expect the study to take into account a number 
of possible economic and non-economic factors. We should examine 
the conclusions before implementing any policy decisions that could 
unfairly curtail access to credit. A President challenged the indus-
try to increase minority homeownership by 5.5 million families by 
2010. Wall Street investors, securitizers, rating agencies, under-
writers, realtors, and originators responded in an effort to help 
families own homes. 

The events of the past 2 decades have created a mortgage mar-
ket. Where today Wall Street creates a demand for certain mort-
gages and sets the underwriting criteria for these mortgages, it is 
this criteria and not the mortgage originator that decides whether 
the consumer qualifies for a particular loan product. With this said, 
all of us, industry, government, and consumers, have a role in help-
ing these families stay in their homes. 

Here is a brief summary of what NAMB is doing to help families 
achieve and maintain responsible homeownership. We support the 
intent behind some of the key principles of the proposed guidance, 
as well as the need to expand this application once finalized to all 
market players to ensure uniformity and a level playing field. We 
continue to advocate for affordable housing, including FHA reform, 
and have pushed for increased mortgage broker participation in the 
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program. We must make FHA a real choice for non-prime cus-
tomers. 

We support authorizing VA to provide reverse mortgages and ex-
pand access to credit, especially for elderly veterans. Since 2002, 
we are the only trade association that has advocated for education, 
background checks, and increased professional standards for all 
mortgage originators, not just mortgage brokers. We continue to 
oppose the flawed system proposed by CBS Armor, because it is 
riddled with exemptions, enables bad actors to move freely un-
checked, and will give consumers a false sense of security,. It does 
not effectively address mortgage fraud or accountability. 

We prepared and submitted to HUD a revised good faith esti-
mate to help improve comparison shopping. Our code of ethics and 
best business practices prohibit placing pressure on, or being pres-
sured by, other professionals and we proposed the development of 
loan specific disclosures to be given to consumers at the shopping 
stage and beginning of funding. This would help consumers avoid 
payment shock. 

Thank you for the opportunity to appear today. I am happy to 
answer any questions. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Dinham can be found on page 
392 of the appendix.] 

Ms. MALONEY. Thank you. 
Mr. Pollock. 

STATEMENT OF ALEX J. POLLOCK, RESIDENT FELLOW, 
AMERICAN ENTERPRISE INSTITUTE 

Mr. POLLOCK. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman, Ranking Mem-
ber Gillmor, and members of the committee, for the opportunity to 
be here today. I will use my 5 minutes—and I noticed that the 
Chair is rigorous in enforcing the 5 minutes—to try to make five 
points: One, the classic credit overextension pattern of the 
subprime mortgage bust; two, the trade-off between risk and home-
ownership as a market experiment; three, fraud; four, the proposed 
regulatory action; and five, my proposal for a one-page mortgage 
disclosure document. Congressman Hensarling and Congressman 
Scott both mentioned the difficulty, as have other commenters, of 
understanding what you are getting into with a mortgage. I pro-
pose this one-page disclosure idea, which I will talk about more in 
a minute. 

First, as we all know, the subprime mortgage boom is over and 
the bust is here. And Ranking Member Gillmor, unlike the mem-
bers of the other panel, I am more pessimistic about where busts 
go, all of the connections that you don’t necessarily see when you 
first look at it, when there are serious credit problems. 

In the mortgage market and in the wider economy, this is con-
sistent with the context, which is that all of the elements of the 
current subprime bust display classic errors of credit overexpan-
sions, which are very familiar to students of financial history, and 
which many of us have lived through before. It is essential to re-
member that the boom gets going because both lenders and bor-
rowers experience success in the beginning. As long as the asset 
price is rising, taking on risky debt by a borrower and making 
risky loans succeed, and that success and belief in the continuing 
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asset price rise ultimately sets up the bust. That is true whether 
the asset is dot com stocks, oil, commercial real estate, houses or 
anything else. It is first, success which builds up the optimism 
which creates the boom which sets up the bust. 

Second, there is a constant trade-off being made between risk 
and homeownership. The American homeownership rate, as many 
have pointed out, has moved up to 69 percent. On an international 
basis, this is a good but not remarkable ratio. The United States 
ranks tenth, is actually tied for tenth, among advanced economies 
in homeownership ratio. The mortgage market is constantly experi-
menting with how much risk there should be, how that risk is dis-
tributed, and how it trades off with success or failure of lenders 
and borrowers. If we want the long-term growth and innovation 
that only market experimentation can create, then we will have 
boom and bust cycles. In economics, nothing is free. You can move 
the risks around, but you cannot make them disappear. 

Many people have rightly brought up the long-term, fixed rate 
mortgage loan, which is an excellent instrument, but I would re-
mind the subcommittee that this form of mortgage caused the col-
lapse of the savings and loans in the 1980’s. Subsequent to that, 
to preserve the fixed rate mortgage required vastly expanded 
securitization. But securitization, as other people have pointed out, 
breaks the link between the originator of the mortgage loan and 
who actually bears the credit risk. Nothing is free; everything is 
trade-offs. 

Third, fraud. Unfortunately, booms induce fraud. This is the tes-
timony of history. This results in scandals on the part of both lend-
ers and borrowers in some instances. Thus, we have fraud in mul-
tiple directions. Consider in this context, so-called ‘‘stated income’’ 
loans. You would think that the disastrous previous experience 
with this bad idea, then called ‘‘no doc’’ or ‘‘low doc’’ loans and now 
‘‘liars’ loans’’ would have been remembered, but it seems to have 
been forgotten by the lenders. On the other hand, I would like to 
point out that any borrower who lies about their income in order 
to get a loan hardly qualifies as a victim. 

Fourth, it is late in the cycle, as has been observed. Losses are 
rising; credit is tightening; liquidity is disappearing; asset prices 
are falling; and it is hard to do the right thing as a regulator that 
is both in line with prudent standards and doesn’t induce further 
tightness and reduction in credit. It seems to me the proposed 
statement on subprime mortgage lending is in general a sober and 
sensible attempt to balance these pressures, although how to set 
the final balance is still open. 

I will mention what hardly anyone has mentioned today: down 
payments and savings. One mortgage lender was quoted as saying 
recently, ‘‘Well, we’ll just have to tell some borrowers they have to 
save for a down payment.’’ That struck me as quite a novel idea. 
Imagine that. You might have to save. 

Finally, the one-page disclosure: It has been pointed out that the 
complexity and opacity of closing documents, many ironically man-
dated by regulation and law, makes it hard for borrowers to under-
stand what they are doing, even for quite sophisticated people. I 
have had, as I am sure we all have, the experience of being over-
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whelmed and befuddled by the huge stack of closing documents full 
of confusing language. 

We could have a one-page disclosure form—my written testimony 
details what it should look like—which would make it impossible 
for borrowers to be unsuspecting or surprised that the rate went 
up. Or, to discover they had a prepayment fee after the fact; we 
have to always know that before the fact. 

Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Pollock can be found on page 428 

of the appendix.] 
Chairwoman MALONEY. I thank all of the gentlemen for their tes-

timony. I am told we may have a vote at any moment, at which 
point we will not be able to continue with the panel as another 
committee is scheduled to come in. 

But I would like to ask all of the panelists this one question. 
Even as the subprime market was looking more and more risky, 
the incentives for borrowers, lenders, brokers, and investors kept 
expanding the market into riskier and riskier products. 

How can we change the incentives at each step of the chain so 
that we encourage sound lending practices? And, I would like to 
start with you, Mr. Calhoun. 

Mr. CALHOUN. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. As I indicated 
in my comments, you can start at the beginning; the majority of 
subprime loans, by a good margin, were originated by mortgage 
brokers. They have in testimony just recently in the Senate stated, 
though, that they believe they have no legal duty to be watching 
out for the best interests of the borrower. And, furthermore, they 
state that they are an independent agent when it comes to the 
lender. And what that means in practical terms is that a borrower 
placed into an abusive and even illegal loan that is originated by 
a broker often has no effective recourse. 

Also, the lender has—rather than an incentive to police the 
broker as has been suggested today—has just the opposite in to-
day’s market. Because the broker claims they are an independent 
agent, it is the lenders who have managed to turn the other way 
in being knowingly ignorant of what happens with an abusive loan. 
And then they say, if there are problems later, don’t blame me. I 
just funded the loan. You go find the broker, and, by the way, that 
isn’t going to help you with the servicer on Wall Street who is fore-
closing on your loan. So, there has to be connections of feedback 
and responsibility in the origination chain. 

Mr. SILVER. As an economics student at Columbia University, we 
talked about asymmetry of information and when actors don’t in-
ternalize, negative externalities. Those are two fundamental flaws; 
could be two fundamental market failures. And, indeed, that is 
happening, sadly, in the lending marketplace. One way to elimi-
nate these violations of classical economic theory is to create strong 
standards that all the actors must adhere to. 

Last session, we had the Miller-Watt-Frank anti-predatory lend-
ing bill. I think that bill established some excellent standards. The 
proposed subprime guidance also establishes some very reasonable 
standards. To enforce these standards, you have to hold the actors 
financially reliable. For example, if people don’t get tickets for 
speeding, you are going to have more speeders and more reckless 
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driving. Likewise, if we don’t have financial liability on all the ac-
tors, brokers, lenders, and the secondary market and servicers, you 
are going to have continued problems and continued passing of the 
buck. Thank you. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Thank you. Mr. Fishbein? 
Mr. FISHBEIN. This is an important question and thank you for 

asking it. Basic Federal consumer protection laws were written at 
a time when depository institutions were the prime funders of 
mortgages. I am speaking of the Truth-in-Lending Act, HOEPA, 
and the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act. 

A lot has changed since those laws were written. Mortgage bro-
kers, as has been pointed out, are the channel for 70 percent or 
more of subprime loans. The secondary market has become much 
more active in securitizing these loans. But yet, the basic consumer 
protection laws have not been changed to reflect the new realities 
of the marketplace. 

Having a standard that applies to loan originators, whether they 
are mortgage brokers or lenders, one that would require them to 
operate under a duty of good faith and fair treatment to borrowers, 
would help address some of the basic problems that you are hear-
ing about today. With regard to the secondary market, it would 
help to extend assignee liability so that the purchasers of loans or 
the investors in these loans have some responsibility for loans that 
are not based on ability to pay standards or in fact have predatory 
characteristics. 

Further, would be to make sure that the banking regulators are 
doing all they can to extend the reach of their authority. For exam-
ple, it is not clear whether the new non-traditional mortgage guid-
ance issued last September and the pending subprime guidance 
reaches to warehouse lines of credit, which depository institutions 
are providing to lenders, or, for that matter, their investment in se-
curities trusts. 

We think all of these things need to be looked at very carefully 
and we encourage the subcommittee to do that. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. Thank you. Mr. Robbins? 
Mr. ROBBINS. The marketplace is working. Over 20 subprime 

companies have gone out of business. Other companies have been 
substantially punished with repurchases and are showing losses. 
So, to the extent that the market punishes bad players, that has 
occured, is occurring, and will continue to occur. But, fundamen-
tally, the system is broken and the system is broken because it is 
not transparent. There is no clarity to this system. 

I don’t think there is one borrower in a thousand who under-
stands the papers that they sign; the number of times they sign it. 
It allows predatory lenders to hide underneath that moray and mo-
rass of very complicated papers that they see at a mortgage closing. 
We need licensing of mortgage lenders. We need education, finan-
cial literacy, and we need education at all levels, both at consumers 
and at high schools. We need to make the system clear. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. My time has expired. I invite the panel-
ists to respond in writing if they would like to expand further on 
the question. I believe it is an important one. Mr. Gillmor? 

Mr. GILLMOR. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. I have a ques-
tion for Mr. Dinham. Let’s assume that most mortgage brokers are 
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honest. They do a good job. But, as you indicated, there are some 
bad apples. So, my question, is for a borrower under the current 
system, is there any practical way for them to find out if the person 
doing the lending has had any kind of disciplinary action, any 
criminal activity, and if there isn’t a practical way to do that, 
should there be? 

Mr. DINHAM. Yes, sir. We would agree that feature needs to be 
there. I can just relate back to the State of Texas. They have a Web 
site which has all the occurrences against a particular broker. So, 
all you have to do is have his number, which is clearly displayed 
on his wall. And you can go on the Web site and see if there has 
been any kind of a problem that he has been in at that point. So, 
in other words, a lot of us are licensed and we are subject to the 
laws of our States. And those States all have Web sites and they 
all have the ability. And the consumer can go to the regulator and 
find out whether the broker has been in trouble or not. 

Mr. GILLMOR. That would not be all States, sir. 
Mr. DINHAM. Well it would be Texas, for sure. But, I think there 

are 49 States that have registration or licensing at this point. 
Mr. GILLMOR. Thank you. I yield the balance of my time to Mr. 

McHenry. 
Mr. MCHENRY. I’d like to thank the member for the time. To Mr. 

Calhoun, the Center for Responsible Lending, what are the total 
number of residential mortgage loans that you sold into the sec-
ondary market in 2006? You alone with the self-help credit union? 

Mr. CALHOUN. I don’t have the exact number. I can tell you that 
it is probably in the range of a billion dollars, but I would need to 
get back with you with a specific dollar amount. 

Mr. MCHENRY. I would certainly appreciate the total number, 
the dollar-value, and what percentage to the marketplace. To both 
CRL and to you, Mr. Silver, you both talk about subprime or 
nonprime hurting the mortgage market and hurting homeowner-
ship in essence. Mr. Silver went so far to say the lending market 
is broken. 

I reference you both to the previous panel of all the regulators 
that we had before here. I asked a simple question: Is the market-
place working? The only thing they said unanimously was yes, the 
marketplace is working. The mortgage marketplace is working. 
And so, it is wonderful rhetoric, but I think it is empty based on 
facts. To you, Mr. Calhoun, you referenced that 2 million will lose 
their homes. Over what period is that? Is that your prediction for 
the next year? 

Mr. CALHOUN. We did an exhaustive study: the first to look at 
what happens to loans over the life, not just a snapshot. 

Mr. MCHENRY. Sir, I have very little time. 
Mr. CALHOUN. We looked at the loans originated since at least 

1999 through 2006, and the projection is that over the life of those 
loans, 2.2 million of them will result in the homeowner going bust. 

Mr. MCHENRY. In roughly 30 years, over the period of a 30-year 
mortgage, almost all of these would go into foreclosure. How many 
would go into foreclosure this year? Do you have a number on that? 

Mr. CALHOUN. I can give you numbers. Yes, sir. In my testi-
mony— 
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Mr. MCHENRY. The 2.4 million you reference in your study would 
say that in essence 30 to 40 percent of subprime loans will go into 
foreclosure, because there are 6 million subprime loans. That is an 
astronomical sum not based on any historical data in the last 40 
years of lending history in the United States. And so, it is rather 
high and misleading before this committee. 

Furthermore, you reference, so just to understand that, there are 
6 million subprime loans in the marketplace right now. You are 
saying that basically a third of them are going to going to fore-
closure. 

Mr. CALHOUN. That’s not correct. Those numbers are in error. If 
you look at the data, we say that 19.4 percent; and you look at a 
lot of the rating agencies are 30 percent. 

Mr. MCHENRY. Which is twice as high than any historical high 
and the losses in subprime, and the high was 10 percent. We are 
under 10 percent and right now the subprime marketplace, I think 
Mr. Robbins references what, 41⁄2 percent are facing foreclosure. 

Mr. CALHOUN. Those are different numbers. The 10 percent, the 
41⁄2 percent he refers to are snapshots. How many are in fore-
closure right now? Our number is not how many are in foreclosure 
at one particular time. It is if you look at what happens to that 
loan over its life, which is typically a 3- to 4-year time period. What 
percentage of those who foreclose and lose the home before the loan 
is paid off or refinanced? 

Chairwoman MALONEY. The gentleman’s time is up. 
Mr. MCHENRY. Will you answer my questions for the record? 
Chairwoman MALONEY. Certainly, the members can place their 

questions into the record, and I call on Mel Watt from North Caro-
lina. 

Mr. WATT. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. Mr. Dinham, I just 
want to get a little clarification. There are obviously some problems 
with the broker system, disproportionately generating issues that 
need to be addressed. How do you define who a broker works for? 
How does the industry say? If I come to you and ask you to get 
me a loan, who are you working for? 

Mr. DINHAM. Well, at this point we have contractual obligations 
to the lenders. Otherwise, we sign a contract with them. 

Mr. WATT. So, you are saying your first responsibility is to the 
lender. 

Mr. DINHAM. I am saying that we are a loaner store with prod-
ucts available to the public; and, in other words, we don’t. It’s like 
going into another type of store. We are a mortgage store. We have 
different products for the consumers to use. 

Mr. WATT. Okay, well that’s fine. I guess I have misunderstood 
because most brokers will tell you that they work for the borrower. 
I mean, I am just telling you what my experience is. You are say-
ing that your primary responsibility is to the lender. 

Mr. DINHAM. Yes, sir, because I have a contractual obligation 
with you. In Texas, we have a disclosure that we give to the bor-
rower. 

Mr. WATT. Where you have a contractual obligation to the bor-
rower? 

Mr. DINHAM. No, sir. 
Mr. WATT. None? 
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Mr. DINHAM. No, sir. I have a disclosure in which I tell him ex-
actly what the relationship is that we are going to have together 
at this point—that we are a contract person and not an agent. 

Mr. WATT. So, if a broker in North Carolina, for example, that 
Mr. Bachus used this morning had a mortgage brokerage company 
that was placing loans had a construction company and then had 
a mortgage brokerage company. And they put out a brochure that 
said, ‘‘There are no sales people in this office. The people you work 
with are working for you.’’ They put this out to the borrower. They 
are working for you to secure the best possible deal on your behalf. 
Then that would be a fraudulent, misleading, dishonest statement, 
is that what you are saying? 

Mr. DINHAM. I am just telling you, no. I am not going to say that, 
because I can’t unequivocally say that. But I think that— 

Mr. WATT. If they were a broker, and they put out a statement 
to me as a borrower, saying that the people you work with are 
working for you to secure the best possible deal on your behalf. 
Would that be a misrepresentation? 

Mr. DINHAM. Not if the statement was coming from me. No, sir, 
it would not be a correct statement. I would like to draw on what 
you brought up about North Carolina though, because there was an 
article in the Charlotte Observer which was out, I think either on 
the 17th— 

Mr. WATT. Let’s let that speak for itself. I will by unanimous con-
sent put the actual series of articles in the record. The articles will 
speak for themselves. And, if you want to address the content of 
the articles, I welcome you to do that. 

Mr. DINHAM. Okay. 
Mr. WATT. Let me just get one more question in to Mr. Calhoun. 

We are operating now in a little bit of a different environment than 
we were operating over the last couple of years when we started 
this process of trying to produce a predatory lending bill that I 
would liken somewhat to what went on at Enron, and a lot of peo-
ple say we overreacted to the Enron situation. I think there was 
some irrational exuberance in the lending and borrowing market 
and some problems. 

You said that there are a number of things that have come on 
the market since the North Carolina law was introduced that were 
really not addressed in the North Carolina law. Would you give us 
a couple of examples of that and then follow that up with written 
documentation of what you think needs to be added to the North 
Carolina law if we were going to try to use the North Carolina law 
as a Federal standard? 

Mr. CALHOUN. Certainly, the primary development has been 
what I would call the abandonment of traditional underwriting 
standards. Ten years ago when we talked about predatory lending, 
the one point of consensus was its so-called asset-based lending, 
lending against the equity in the home without regard for whether 
the borrower could actually pay the payments on the loan. 

That was the essence of predatory lending is what we have seen 
as the incremental steps. That’s what’s developed over the last 4 
years and I think there are two important things here. One is that 
it has been incremental, this payment shock that we have talked 
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about today. They didn’t just start lending with these loans with 
huge payment shocks. It got worse and worse each quarter. 

And the dynamic that’s the real concern, when you step back to 
the 30,000-foot level, is we have a situation. 

Mr. WATT. Why don’t you address that in writing, because my 
time has expired. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. The gentleman’s time has expired. That 
was an excellent question. The last question will go to Patrick 
McHenry of North Carolina. And we are called for a vote and this 
will conclude our hearing. 

Mr. MCHENRY. This is a question for the whole panel, so, be pre-
pared. It’s going to be very simple and short answers because we 
don’t have much time. 

Every three out of four loans in the foreclosure process do not 
wind up in a foreclosure sale. In 2005, FMAC studied this issue. 
It was estimated that the average cost of a single foreclosure for 
the lender averages $58,000. Those are FMAC’s numbers. 

Could you expand on why, actually, how about this. Very simple, 
the whole panel will start from left to right here. Yes or no: Is it 
bad for lenders to lend money to people who are not capable of pay-
ing it back? Yes or no, Mr. Calhoun? 

Mr. CALHOUN. On an individual level, no. But it is profitable on 
a macro level, and that’s what we have seen here. They’ll lose 
money on an individual loan. 

Mr. MCHENRY. Once more, I don’t have time for long-winded an-
swers. 

Mr. CALHOUN. That’s my answer that you heard. 
Mr. MCHENRY. Which is ‘‘kind of.’’ Okay? Mr. Silver? 
Mr. SILVER. You have to send it back to the lender without con-

sidering repayment ability. And, if I might, Representative— 
Mr. MCHENRY. Yes, that is a good answer. Mr. Fishbein? 
Mr. FISHBEIN. Look at the volume of loans handled by consumer 

rescue funds and you see several examples of failure. 
Mr. MCHENRY. Thank you. I don’t have time. Mr. Silver? Thank 

you. 
Mr. SILVER. Yes, on an individual basis I would agree with Mr. 

Calhoun. However, changes in the market allow much higher fore-
closure rates and still make profits for lenders than occurred in the 
past. 

Mr. MCHENRY. So, losing money is good? Number four, here. 
Thank you. I appreciate your answer the most. All right, thank 
you. Back to Mr. Calhoun. Do you have a lower cost of funds in 
commercial mortgage subprime mortgage lenders? 

Mr. CALHOUN. No, we get most of our funding through Wall 
Street Repurchase Agreements. 

Mr. MCHENRY. So, you don’t use community foundation grants or 
anything like that? 

Mr. CALHOUN. We received, as I believe you know, grants to set 
up the original loan loss reserves for the loans. But, for example, 
when we securitize loans we sell them on the market and the peo-
ple who buy them don’t care about anything except the finances. 
And that’s what they pay. 

Mr. MCHENRY. The insurance policy for the loan loss is based on 
grants that have been given to your organization? 
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Mr. CALHOUN. In part, yes. 
Mr. MCHENRY. So, yes. You have subsidized lending because you 

are able to get money for free? 
Mr. CALHOUN. It gave us start-up funds but our sustainability 

has depended upon it being self-sustaining. 
Mr. MCHENRY. Okay, thank you. Additionally, I want to thank 

Mr. Pollock in particular for his one-page mortgage document. I 
think that’s fantastic. I think that this is something the committee 
should have hearings on and we should move forward on this. At 
this point, I would like to yield my remaining time to Mr. Price of 
Georgia. 

Mr. PRICE. I thank my colleague from North Carolina for yield-
ing. I appreciate the testimony of all of you presented. I think it 
points out clearly that we need much greater financial literacy. 
There appears to be some bipartisan agreement on that and hope-
fully we will be able to go forward. I am a little troubled by what 
appears to be a relative disdain for willing lenders and willing bor-
rowers. And I wonder what that says about our general sense 
about our markets and about our sense of commerce right now in 
our Nation. 

Mr. Calhoun, I heard you say, you cited all sorts of examples 
about the typical subprime loan and how it leads to troubling re-
sults in many areas, and you said that one-sixth of the market are 
subprime loans. Yet, they comprise two-thirds of the foreclosures in 
the market. And that implies that there’s an ideal number for each 
of those. Do you have a sense about where that ideal is? 

Mr. CALHOUN. No. I think what it reflects more is what one of 
the members of the previous panels said—when you tease that 
apart, those foreclosure rates vary dramatically depending upon 
the loan features and that subprime loans that don’t have these 
abusive features the built-in payment shock have less than half of 
the foreclosure rate of the loans that do have those abusive fea-
tures. That’s our big concern: get those features out and then let 
the market decide what’s the appropriate balance. 

Mr. PRICE. I appreciate that. I have about 30 seconds, I think. 
I want to commend Mr. Pollock for your comment and perspective 
that we are late in this cycle and whether or not the Federal Gov-
ernment action will result in anything good to the entire market, 
I think, is an apt perspective. 

And I would ask, and I am not going to have any time it doesn’t 
look like, but I would ask each of you, and we’ll give this to you 
in writing, whether or not you agree that we are late in this cycle 
and whether or not you believe that Federal Government interven-
tion at this point in this cycle can have any positive result. 

Chairwoman MALONEY. The gentleman’s time has expired. The 
Chair notes that some members may have additional questions for 
the panel which they may wish to submit in writing. Without objec-
tion, the hearing record will remain open for 30 days for members 
to submit written questions to these witnesses and to place the re-
sponses in the record. 

I want to thank all of the panelists for your testimony today. 
Mr. FISHBEIN. Chairwoman Maloney, if I may, I had asked if I 

could have a letter that has been signed by 80 groups to the regu-
lators inserted in the record? 
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Chairwoman MALONEY. Yes. 
The hearing is now adjourned. Thank you. 
[Whereupon, at 1:45 p.m., the hearing was adjourned.] 
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